
Corporate Parenting Committee

Wednesday 5 February 2020 at 5.00 pm
Board Room 2 - Brent Civic Centre, Engineers Way, 
Wembley HA9 0FJ

Membership:

Members Substitute Members
Councillors: Councillors:
M Patel (Chair)
Conneely
Gbajumo
Kansagra
Thakkar

W Mitchell Murray and Sangani

For further information contact: Hannah O'Brien, Governance Officer
Hannah.O'Brien@brent.gov.uk

For electronic copies of minutes, reports and agendas, and to be alerted when the 
minutes of this meeting have been published visit:

www.brent.gov.uk/committees

The press and public are welcome to attend this meeting

Public Document Pack



2

Notes for Members - Declarations of Interest:
If a Member is aware they have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest* in an item of business, 
they must declare its existence and nature at the start of the meeting or when it becomes 
apparent and must leave the room without participating in discussion of the item. 
If a Member is aware they have a Personal Interest** in an item of business, they must 
declare its existence and nature at the start of the meeting or when it becomes apparent.
If the Personal Interest is also a Prejudicial Interest (i.e. it affects a financial position or 
relates to determining of any approval, consent, licence, permission, or registration) then 
(unless an exception at 14(2) of the Members Code applies), after  disclosing the interest to 
the meeting the Member must leave the room without participating in discussion of the item, 
except that they may first make representations, answer questions or give evidence relating 
to the matter, provided that the public are allowed to attend the meeting for those purposes.

*Disclosable Pecuniary Interests:
(a) Employment, etc. - Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on 

for profit gain.
(b) Sponsorship - Any payment or other financial benefit in respect expenses in 

carrying out duties as a member, or of election; including from a trade union. 
(c) Contracts - Any current contract for goods, services or works, between the 

Councillors or their partner (or a body in which one has a beneficial interest) and the 
council.

(d) Land - Any beneficial interest in land which is within the council’s area.
(e) Licences- Any licence to occupy land in the council’s area for a month or longer.
(f) Corporate tenancies - Any tenancy between the council and a body in which the 

Councillor or their partner have a beneficial interest.
(g) Securities - Any beneficial interest in securities of a body which has a place of 

business or land in the council’s area, if the total nominal value of the securities 
exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body or of 
any one class of its issued share capital.

**Personal Interests:
The business relates to or affects:
(a) Anybody of which you are a member or in a position of general control or management, 
and:

 To which you are appointed by the council;
 which exercises functions of a public nature;
 which is directed is to charitable purposes;
 whose principal purposes include the influence of public opinion or policy (including a 

political party of trade union).
(b) The interests a of a person from whom you have received gifts or hospitality of at least 

£50 as a member in the municipal year; 
or
A decision in relation to that business might reasonably be regarded as affecting, to a 
greater extent than the majority of other council tax payers, ratepayers or inhabitants of the 
electoral ward affected by the decision, the well-being or financial position of:

 You yourself;
 a member of your family or your friend or any person with whom you have a close 

association or any person or body who employs or has appointed any of these or in 
whom they have a beneficial interest in a class of securities exceeding the nominal 
value of £25,000, or any firm in which they are a partner, or any company of which 
they are a director

 any body of a type described in (a) above.



3

Agenda
Introductions, if appropriate.

Apologies for absence and clarification of alternate members.

Item Page

1 Exclusion of the Press and Public 

The committee is advised that the public may be excluded from meetings whenever it is 
likely in view of the nature of the proceedings that exempt information would be disclosed. 
Meetings of the Corporate Parenting Committee are attended by representatives of Care 
In Action (CIA), the council’s Children in Care Council. The committee is therefore 
recommended to exclude the press and public for the duration of the meeting,  as the 
attendance of CIA representatives necessitates the disclosure of the following category of 
exempt information, set out in the Local Government Act 1972:  - information which is 
likely to reveal the identity of an individual.

2 Apologies for absence and clarification of alternate members 

3 Declarations of interests 

Members are invited to declare at this stage of the meeting, any relevant 
disclosable pecuniary, personal or prejudicial interests in the items on this agenda.

4 Deputations (if any) 

5 Minutes of the previous meeting 

To approve the minutes of the previous meeting held 30 October 2019 as a correct 
record.

To follow

6 Matters arising (if any) 

To consider any matters arising from the minutes of the previous meeting. 

7 Update from Care In Action Representatives 

This is an opportunity for members of Care In Action (CIA) to feedback on recent 
activity.

8 Findings of Ofsted Focused Visit to Review Arrangements for Care 
Leavers 

             1 - 8



4

The report provides a summary of findings of a recent Ofsted Focused Visit 
on care leavers, which took place on 13th and 14th November 2019. The 
report also draws attention to learning points and actions taken following the 
Focused Visit. 

9 Health Annual Report of Looked After Children - 2018/19 9 - 48

This is the sixth Looked After Children (LAC) Annual Report provided to NHS Brent 
Clinical Commissioning Group (BCCG) written in response to the statutory guidance, 
‘Promoting the health and well-being of looked-after children’ (2015).
It covers the period from 1st  April 2018 to 31st  March 2019. The LAC Annual Report 
forms part of Brent CCGs assurance arrangements, in relation to Looked After 
Children and wider Safeguarding Children arrangements. The report includes 
information about service performance and sets out the objectives and priorities for 
the coming year. 

10 Emotional and Mental Health of Looked After Children presentation

This item will be a presentation during the meeting.

11 Fostering Service Quarterly Report, Quarter 3 (Oct 2019-Dec 2019) 49 - 58

This report provides information to the Council’s Corporate Parenting Committee 
about the general management of the in-house fostering service and how it is 
achieving good outcomes for children. This is in accordance with standard 25.7 of 
the Fostering National Minimum Standards (2011). The report details the activity of 
Brent’s fostering service from 1st October – 31st December 2019.

12 Any other urgent business 

Notice of items to be raised under this heading must be given in writing to the 
Head of Executive and Member Services or his representative before the meeting 
in accordance with Standing Order 60.

Date of the next meeting: Tuesday 28 April 2020

 Please remember to set your mobile phone to silent during the meeting.
 The meeting room is accessible by lift and seats will be provided for 

members of the public.



Corporate Parenting Committee
5th February 2020

Report from the Strategic Director of Children 
and Young People

Findings of Ofsted Focused Visit to Review Arrangements 
for Care Leavers

Wards Affected: All
Key or Non-Key Decision: N/A
Open or Part/Fully Exempt:
(If exempt, please highlight 
relevant paragraph of Part 1, 
Schedule 12A of 1972 Local 
Government Act)

Open

No. of Appendices: Appendix 1: Ofsted Focused Visit Letter
Background Papers: N/A

Contact Officer(s):
(Name, Title, Contact Details)

Onder Beter,
Head of Service for Looked After Children and 
Permanency 

Nigel Chapman
Operational Director, Integration and Improved 
Outcomes

1.0 Purpose of the Report

1.1 This report provides a summary of findings of a recent Ofsted Focused Visit on 
care leavers, which took place on 13th and 14th November 2019. The report 
also draws attention to learning points and actions taken following the Focused 
Visit. 

2.0 Recommendation(s) 

2.1 The Corporate Parenting Committee is requested to review and comment on 
the findings of Ofsted’s Focused Visit as well as the actions taken by the Looked 
After Children and Permanency Service following the Focused Visit. 

2.2. The Committee is also requested to support the work senior leaders have been 
undertaking with partners to increase the number of care leavers in 
apprenticeships. 

Page 1

Agenda Item 8



3.0 Detail 

3.1 Focused Visits are undertaken as a part of Ofsted’s Inspection of Local 
Authority Children’s Services (ILACS) Framework and, unlike full inspections, 
are not concluded with a graded judgement. Ofsted publishes a letter with 
findings after the visit and the findings are taken into account during the Local 
Authority’s next ILACS inspection.  Ofsted published a letter with the findings 
on 18th Dec 2019: https://reports.ofsted.gov.uk/provider/44/80489       

3.2. Inspectors reviewed the quality of service provided to care leavers as well as 
leadership and management arrangements. Outcomes for care leavers were 
scrutinised around suitability of accommodation; education, employment and 
training; health including emotional and mental health; quality of overall practice 
incorporating quality assurance arrangements. The inspectors spoke to young 
people, PAs, the Lead Member for Children’s Safeguarding, Early Help and 
Social Care; senior leaders within the Council including the Chief Executive and 
Strategic Director, Children and Young People as well as some partners. They 
reviewed a large number of documents evidencing work undertaken with care 
leavers including individual case files of young people during the two days they 
were on site. 

4. Inspection Findings 

4.1 Brent’s role as a ‘corporate parent’ was praised by the Ofsted during the 
focused visit. The Inspectors highlighted the fact that “care leavers continue to 
be a council-wide priority in Brent”. Care leavers were reported to be supported 
by a ‘comprehensive’ local offer together with strong corporate and political 
support. 

4.2 The letter published by the Ofsted noted the council tax exemption for care 
leavers, whether they live in or out of Brent. This was highlighted as an initiative 
developed by collective corporate and political support. The report stated: “Care 
leavers benefit from being exempt from paying council tax, whether they live in or 
out of the authority, an initiative that was developed with full council and political 
support as part of the comprehensive local offer.” 

4.3 Additionally, the following strengths were identified: 

 Robust partnership arrangements to support care leavers.  
 Recent Transitional Safeguarding Workshop was well attended by partners 

to further develop pathways for transition into adult services.
 Senior managers know their services well and address areas of practice 

where improvement is required. 
 Work undertaken by senior managers to stabilise workforce was praised. 
 Staff are aspirational for care leavers. 
 ‘Accredited life skills programme’, ‘group work’ and ‘Networks for Life’ are 

ambitious programmes aimed at building resilience and equipping young 
people with skills they need in adulthood.  

Page 2

https://reports.ofsted.gov.uk/provider/44/80489


 Majority of care leavers are in suitable accommodation as a result of effective 
partnership working and commissioning arrangements. No tenancy 
breakdown for care leavers, open to the Service, in the last three years was 
noted.

 Strong focus ensuring that care leavers access education, employment and 
training. Most care leavers receive help in developing skills to promote their 
independence; 10 care leavers in apprenticeships and the Council working 
with partners to increase the number of care leavers in apprenticeships. 

 Health assessments are conducted regularly and are of good quality. Mental 
health support to care leavers provided by Safe Base Brent was deemed to 
be a strength.

 Voice of young people is listened to via various mechanisms such as the 
Bright Spots Survey, Care in Action, Care Leavers Hub and other enrichment 
activities.

 UASC receive timely and sensitive support which is a strength. UASC in all 
cases seen by the inspectors were receiving appropriate support with focus 
being on their personal histories, emotional and mental health needs. 

4.4 The following areas were noted for further improvement in relation to both 
strategic partnership and practice:

 The need to increase the number of care leavers in apprenticeships and EET 
opportunities.

 Care leavers not always receiving a copy of their health history as part of 
their last health assessments.

 Need for consistency in timeliness and quality of pathway plans.
 Case recording including records of visits to care leavers, supervision 

records and management oversight and the management rationale for case 
closure.

 Audit arrangements to consider the quality of work with care leavers
 Risk assessments to articulate measures to address and minimise risk.

4.5. The first two points, which are partnership related issues, are being addressed 
within the regular partnership forum for looked after children and care leavers, 
chaired by the Head of Service for Looked After Children and Permanency. 

4.6 The Focused Visit acknowledged the on-going work senior leaders have been 
undertaking to increase the number of care leavers in apprenticeships. This 
includes the right level of support young people need before, during and after 
taking apprenticeships. The work needs to expand by encouraging businesses 
and Council’s external partners to offer apprenticeships for care leavers via 
using the apprenticeship levy and contractual arrangements with support from 
all Council departments and Members as corporate parents. Through 
enhancing existing partnerships and creating new opportunities care leavers 
will benefit from better education and employment prospects.  

Page 3



4.7 The specific four service improvement points detailed within the Ofsted 
Focused Visit outcome letter are tracked by an action plan. As per the plan, 
several workshops on the quality of recording, supervision and management 
oversight and pathway plans have been rolled out for staff. Some changes have 
been made to our Quality Assurance Programme to have a greater focus on 
care leavers. Overall, targets set to be achieved by June 2020 are all on track.

4.8 The action plan is scrutinised on a monthly basis by the CYP Strategic Director 
and will have been completed by June 2020 when a completion report will be 
brought to the Corporate Parenting Committee. 

Contact Officer

Onder Beter, Head of Service, LAC and Permanency. 
Brent Civic Centre, Engineers Way, Wembley, Middlesex HA9 OFJ.

Tel: 020 8937 1228

Email: onder.beter@brent.gov.uk

Appendix: 
1. Ofsted Focused Visit Letter

Page 4

mailto:onder.beter@brent.gov.uk


 

Ofsted 
Piccadilly Gate 
Store Street 

Manchester 
M1 2WD 

T  0300 123 1231 
Textphone  0161 618 8524 

enquiries@ofsted.gov.uk 
www.gov.uk/ofsted  

 

 
 
18 December 2019 
 
Gail Tolley 
Strategic Director, Children and Young People 
London Borough of Brent 
Civic Centre, Engineers Lane 
Wembley 
HA9 0FJ 
 
 
Dear Ms Tolley   
 
Focused visit to Brent local authority children’s services 
 
This letter summarises the findings of the focused visit to Brent local authority 
children’s services on 13 and 14 November 2019. The inspectors were Tara Geere, 
Her Majesty’s Inspector, and Máire Atherton, Her Majesty’s Inspector. 
 
Inspectors looked at the local authority’s arrangements for care leavers. They 
considered a range of evidence, which included discussions with care leavers, 
partner agencies, personal advisers, social workers and managers. Inspectors also 
reviewed local authority performance management and quality assurance 
information and care leavers’ case records. 
 

 
Overview 
 
Care leavers continue to be a council-wide priority in Brent. A comprehensive local 
offer, together with strong corporate and political support and engagement with 
partners and the young people themselves, enables senior managers to focus on 
developing services to improve outcomes for care leavers. Since the last inspection 
in May 2018, senior managers have worked hard to stabilise the workforce within 
the care leavers’ service. However, this has also led to some staff turnover, 
meaning that some care leavers have had several changes of worker.   
 
Senior managers know their services well and are addressing the areas of practice 
where improvement is required. A decline in performance in the care leavers’ 
service earlier in the year was identified by managers, and significant 
improvements have since been made. However, the quality of case recording, 
especially in relation to visits to care leavers, pathway plans and supervision, is not 
consistent. Senior managers have ensured that training and support have been 
provided to staff, to further improve practice in these areas.  
 
The vast majority of care leavers live in suitable accommodation, supported by 
constructive relationships between children’s social care services and housing. 

Page 5

file:///C:/Users/tgeere/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/IE/ZNR25X57/enquiries@ofsted.gov.uk
file:///C:/Users/tgeere/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/IE/ZNR25X57/www.gov.uk/ofsted


 

 
 

2 
 

‘Staying put’ arrangements are actively promoted and supported. There is a strong 
focus on ensuring that care leavers access education, employment and training, 
and most care leavers receive help in developing skills to promote their 
independence. As a result, the majority of care leavers receive effective support 
that helps most of them to achieve positive outcomes. A large number of care 
leavers in Brent are unaccompanied asylum-seeking young people, and they 
receive timely and sensitive consideration of their needs.   
 
What needs to improve in this area of social work practice 
 
◼ Consistency in the timeliness and quality of pathway plans. 

◼ Case recording, including records of visits to care leavers, supervision and 
management oversight, and the management rationale for case closure. 

◼ Audit arrangements to consider the quality of work with care leavers.  

◼ Risk assessments to articulate measures to address and minimise risk.  

 
 

Findings 
 
◼ Senior leaders are committed to improving outcomes for care leavers. They seek 

regular feedback from the young people to inform service development, through a 
range of activities. Representatives of the ‘care leavers in action’ group routinely 
attend the corporate parenting committee to ensure that their views are 
considered. Feedback from the annual care leavers survey, which was developed 
with care leavers, Coram Voice and the University of Oxford, has resulted in 
recent workshops with a range of partners and care leavers, as well as an action 
plan to implement the learning.  
 

◼ Feedback has also been used to influence service development, such as Safe 
Base, a service designed to promote resilience and emotional well-being. The 
service provides a variety of psychological support packages for care leavers up to 
25 years old, so that they can ‘feel supported and held in mind’, through 
telephone, email and face-to-face sessions. Young people who spoke to inspectors 
were very positive about the support provided by this service.  

 
◼ Strong partnerships with a range of partners, including housing and a co-located 

worker from the Department for Work and Pensions, help to ensure timely and 
flexible support and advice to young people. Senior managers are also developing 
new and innovative ways of working with partners to improve support. An 
accredited skills programme, group work and ‘networks for life’ are all ambitious 
projects aimed at building resilience and equipping children in care and care 
leavers for adult life. The local authority has also recently held a transitional 
safeguarding workshop, that was well attended by partners, to further develop 
pathways for transitions into adult services.  

 

Page 6



 

 
 

3 
 

◼ Staff are aspirational for care leavers. The majority of young people who spoke to 
inspectors reported positively about the quality of support and advice offered to 
them. Staff make significant efforts to stay in touch with young people when they 
leave care, although recording on case files does not always reflect this work.   

 
◼ Workers are able to articulate individual risks to care leavers, including those at 

risk of exploitation. However, risk assessment tools are not routinely used. Case 
recording does not consistently give clarity about any risk minimisation planning 
to address and minimise known risks to young people. When there are additional 
risks to care leavers, such as concerns about potential radicalisation, mental ill 
health, or young people in custody, young people are visited at a frequency 
determined by their age and circumstances. However, recording is not of a 
consistent quality to understand the purpose of the visit, or the discussions and 
actions to be taken as a result.   
 

◼ There is a comprehensive quality assurance framework and a range of quality 
assurance activity, including a cross-departmental thematic audit process. 
However, care leavers are not routinely considered in all thematic audits. Senior 
managers took appropriate action during the focused visit to ensure that future 
audits will include a larger sample of care leavers, and that the impact of practice, 
as well as compliance, will be considered.  
 

◼ The vast majority of care leavers benefit from access to a range of suitable 
housing options, including ‘staying put’ with their carers when appropriate. 
Effective work with housing and providers of semi-independent accommodation 
ensures that care leavers live in accommodation that meets their needs. As a 
result of the right level of preparation and support, there have been no tenancy 
breakdowns in the last three years.  

 
◼ Care leavers benefit from being exempt from paying council tax, whether they live 

in or out of the authority, an initiative that was developed with full council and 
political support as part of the comprehensive local offer.  

 
◼ Care leavers who are unaccompanied asylum seekers or refugees receive good 

support from their allocated workers, including help with understanding how to 
progress their applications to settle in the United Kingdom. In all cases seen by 
inspectors, these young people were in suitable accommodation and were helped 
to access education. Sensitive consideration is given to their personal histories 
and they are able to access help for their emotional and mental health needs.  

 
◼ Social workers, personal advisers and staff from the virtual school are clearly 

focused on engaging young people in education, employment and training 
activities. Effective individual support is delivered through a range of initiatives. 
Close monitoring ensures that care leavers who are, or who are at risk of being, 
not in education, employment or training, are quickly identified and supported. 
Currently, 10 young people benefit from apprenticeships, either directly within the 

Page 7



 

 
 

4 
 

local authority or through its commissioning arrangements. Senior managers are 
working with partners to increase the number of apprenticeships available. Care 
leavers in higher education receive timely and effective financial, practical and 
emotional support to help them to complete their studies.  

 
◼ Care leavers are provided with a varied range of social and enrichment 

opportunities, which they appreciate and value. Young people speak highly of all 
of the activities on offer, such as the weekly football sessions and a monthly hub 
for care leavers, as well as other activities such as residential trips. 

 
◼ The emotional and physical health needs of care leavers are well considered and 

well met. Health assessments are conducted regularly and are of good quality. 
However, care leavers who spoke to inspectors said that they do not consistently 
receive their health histories, which limits their ability to make informed decisions 
about their future healthcare. Care leavers are currently working with staff to 
develop an electronic app that will enable them to have access to their records.    

 
◼ The majority of pathway plans are completed collaboratively with care leavers. 

This means that most care leavers are involved with and participate in planning 
for their futures. However, pathway plans vary in quality. Some pathway plans are 
not thorough enough, and most plans are not updated after significant changes to 
young people’s circumstances. Actions in plans are not always specific or time 
bounded. As a result, it is hard to see whether actions are progressed in a timely 
way. Records do not always show whether care leavers have received a copy of 
their plan, or whether any changes have been made to reflect their views. Plans 
do not routinely contain a record of management authorisation.  

 
◼ Management oversight and supervision vary in quality. Records do not always 

demonstrate consistent examples of reflective, analytical supervision and 
management oversight. Some supervision records do not provide sufficient clarity 
about the specific actions that staff need to complete, and by when, in order to 
improve outcomes for care leavers.  

 
◼ Staff have access to a wide range of induction and training opportunities. They 

report that they are supported and encouraged to engage in training and 
development events. These events provide good opportunities to reflect and focus 
on practice improvement with care leavers.  

 
Ofsted will take the findings from this focused visit into account when planning your 
next inspection or visit. 
 
Yours sincerely 
 
Tara Geere 
Her Majesty’s Inspector 

Page 8



 

Final NHS Brent CCG LAC Annual Report 2018-2019                                            1 
 
 

  
 

 

 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

LOOKED AFTER CHILDREN AND CARE LEAVERS ANNUAL REPORT 
2018-2019 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 9

Agenda Item 9



 

Final NHS Brent CCG LAC Annual Report 2018-2019                                            2 
 
 

 

                                           Table of Contents 
 

 Contents 
 

Page 

1.0 Executive summary 
 

3 

2.0 The function & responsibility of Brent CCG 
 

4 

3.0 The national context 
 

3 

4.0 Governance & accountability for Looked After Children health 
services in Brent 
 

7 

5.0 The age profile of Looked After Children 
 

8 

6.0 Placement of Brent’s Looked After Children 
 

10 

7.0 The Health Team for Looked After Children in Brent 
 

13 

8.0 Monitoring timeliness of Health Assessment, Key Performance 
Indicators and Targets for LAC in 2017-18 

14 

9.0 Brent Child Health profile outcome Indicators for Looked After 
Children 
 

20 

10.0 Responding to the mental health needs of  Looked After 
Children in Brent 

21 

11.0 Special Educational Needs and Disability 26 

12.0 Care Leavers 
 

27 

13.0 Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children (UASC) in Brent 

 
29 

14.0 Adoption and Fostering 
 

31 

15.0 Participation 
 

31 

16.0 Training for multiagency partners 
 

36 

17.0 LNWUHT LAC Health Team audit schedule for 2019-2020 
 

37 

18.0 Safeguarding Brent Looked After Children 37 

19.0 Priorities for 2019-2020 
 

38 

20.0 Abbreviations used in this report 
 

39 

21.0 

 
Authors 40 

 

Page 10



 

Final NHS Brent CCG LAC Annual Report 2018-2019                                            3 
 
 

1.0 Executive summary 
 
This is the sixth Looked After Children (LAC) Annual Report provided to NHS Brent 
Clinical Commissioning Group (BCCG) written in response to the statutory guidance, 
‘Promoting the health and well-being of looked-after children’ (2015)1  
 
It covers the period from 1st April 2018 to 31st March 2019. The LAC Annual Report 
forms part of Brent CCGs assurance arrangements, in relation to Looked After 
Children and wider Safeguarding Children arrangements. 
  
Under the Children Act 19892, a child is looked after by a local authority if he or 
she falls into one of the following:  
• is provided with accommodation, for a continuous period of more than 24 hours 
(Children Act 1989, Section 20 and 21) 
• is subject to a care order (Children Act 1989, Part IV), or  
• is subject to a placement order 
 
Wherever possible, the Local Authority will work in partnership with parents. Many 
children and young people whom become ‘looked after’ retain strong links with their 
families and many eventually return home. The term ‘Children Looked After’ (CLA) is 
sometimes used interchangeably with LAC. 
 
A child will cease being “Looked After” when they are adopted, return home or reach 
the age of 18 years.  
 
Care Leavers are those children who have been previously Looked After and are 
now being supported to live independently, with an age range of 18 to 25 years. 
 
Social care responsibilities for Care Leavers over the age of 21 has now changed 
under the recently published Children and Social Work Act (2017), which enables 
care leavers to request support up to the age of 25, regardless of whether or not they 
are in education. 
 
As with previous reports, it includes information about service performance and sets 
out the objectives and priorities for the coming year. This covers the CCG and 
Provider Health reports for this service. The health provider is London North West 
University Healthcare NHS Trust (LNWUHT). The report outlines the delivery of 
health services to LAC by the London Borough of Brent, in line with National 
Statutory Guidance. It reviews performance indicators, clinical work undertaken by 
the LAC health team, service improvements and plans for further development to 
safeguard and promote the welfare of the LAC population whether they are placed in 
Brent or elsewhere.  
 

                                                
1 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/promoting-the-health-and-wellbeing-of-
looked-after-children--2015  

 
2 https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/41/contents 
 

Page 11

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/promoting-the-health-and-wellbeing-of-looked-after-children--2015
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/promoting-the-health-and-wellbeing-of-looked-after-children--2015
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/41/contents


 

Final NHS Brent CCG LAC Annual Report 2018-2019                                            4 
 
 

Effective partnership working with the local authority and the provider is focussed 
upon reducing avoidable delays in children receiving their relevant health reviews, 
and planning how CCG records can identify looked after children living in Brent.  
 
This report covers the commissioning aspects of the service as well as the provider 
aspects of delivery, for ease of reading and to demonstrate the joint working 
partnership across health including: 
 

 Monitoring initial and review health assessments for Looked After Children. 

 Supporting LNWUHT updated offer for Looked After Children’s health 
assessments. 

 Initiating an audit of Care Leavers support to be undertaken in spring 2019. 

 Delivering multi-professional training on the health needs of Looked After Children. 

 Participating in a multiagency semi-independent audit of Care Leavers 
accommodation. 
 
The 2018 Brent Ofsted Inspection of Local Authority Children’s Services (ILACS)3 
report that was undertaken between 14th May 2018 and 25th May 2018 concluded 
that the  
“The experience and progress of children in care and care leavers’ was 
“Outstanding.”  

“Excellent support is available for children and young people to help them achieve 
stability in their lives. Strong multi-agency work across partnerships is helping 
children and young people thrive. Effective health screening and support ensures 
that children in care and care leavers improve their physical health.  
Of particular note is how emotional well-being is prioritised. Close attention is paid to 
the early identification of the impact of trauma. Consequently, children and young 
people receive a variety of targeted interventions, and this is reducing the need for 
more specialised interventions. Specialised support is provided for carers and 
professional consultation is provided for social workers to help them understand the 
impact of trauma. Where needs escalate, children and young people are promptly 
triaged and interventions are prioritised and delivered for as long as they are 
needed.”  

 
 
2.0 The function & responsibility of NHS Brent CCG 
 
Under the Children Act (1989, 2004) CCG’s have a duty to comply and cooperate 
with requests from the Local Authority to assist them in providing support and 
services for LAC. In order to discharge this duty effectively NHS Commissioners 
must ensure that the services they commission can meet the particular needs of 
these children so that they are able to access a range of universal and specialist 
services without undue delay. The starting point for ensuring this provision should be 
the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment. NHS Brent CCG remains committed to 
improving health outcomes for LAC and recognises the importance of having high 
quality, responsive services in order to achieve this. The CCG continues to work 
closely with the provider health team (LNWUHT), Brent Local Authority (Brent LA), 

                                                
3
 https://files.api.beta.ofsted.gov.uk/v1/file/50004482 

Page 12

https://files.api.beta.ofsted.gov.uk/v1/file/50004482


 

Final NHS Brent CCG LAC Annual Report 2018-2019                                            5 
 
 

NHS England, service users and other key partners to ensure our LAC population 
have speedy access to high quality health care, as and when they need it.   
 
 
3.0 The national context  
 
In England the number of looked after children has increased every year since 2008.  
 
At 31 March 2018, the number of children looked after by local authorities in  
England 4 increased, up 4% to 75,420 from 72,590 in 2017, continuing increases 
seen in recent years. This is equivalent to a rate of 64 per 10,000 in 2018, which is 
up from 62 per 10,000 in 2017 and 60 per 10,000 in 2016.  
 
The number of children starting to be looked after has fallen slightly this year, by 3%, 
after a period of gradual increases. 32,050 children started to be looked after in the 
year ending 31 March 2018, down from 32,940 in 2017. 
 
The number ceasing to be looked after has fallen again by 5% to 29,860, from a high 
of 31,850 in 2016. 
 
The broad characteristics of looked after children have remained similar to previous 
years; just over half (56%) are male, (44%) are female.  
 
The largest age group (39%) of looked after children are aged 10-15 years; 23% are 
aged 16 years and over, 19% are aged 5-9 years, 13% are aged 1-4 years and 6% 
are aged under 1 year.  
 
In the year ending 31 March 2016 there was a large increase in the number of 
unaccompanied asylum-seeking children. This sub group are generally older (aged 
16 years +), boys, and are in need due to absent parenting. In many cases, the 
patterns seen in figures throughout this release are influenced by this 5 
homogeneous group, some of whom are now of an age to leave care. 
 

At 31 March 2018 there were 4,480 unaccompanied asylum-seeking children, down 
4% on the number at 31 March 2017. In 2018, unaccompanied asylum-seeking 
children continue to represent around 6% of all children looked after in England 
 
The majority of looked after children are of white ethnicity (75%). 9% were of mixed 
ethnicity and 7% were of Black or Black British ethnicity. Since 2014, the proportion 
of looked after children of white ethnicity has decreased steadily from 78% to 75%, 
whilst the proportions of ‘Asian or Asian British’ and ‘Other’ have increased slightly. It 
is likely this slight change is due to the broadly non-white make up of 
unaccompanied asylum seeking children, a group which has grown in numbers in 
recent years. 
 

                                                
4 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_da
ta/file/757922/Children_looked_after_in_England_2018_Text_revised.pdf 
 

Page 13

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/757922/Children_looked_after_in_England_2018_Text_revised.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/757922/Children_looked_after_in_England_2018_Text_revised.pdf


 

Final NHS Brent CCG LAC Annual Report 2018-2019                                            6 
 
 

When a child is assessed by children’s services their primary need is recorded. 
47,530 children were identified as having a primary need of ‘abuse or neglect’ - the 
most common reason identified. 11,270 were in need due to ‘family dysfunction’ and 
5,980 were due to the ‘family being in acute stress’. 4,860 were identified as in need 
due to ‘absent parenting’, almost all of whom are unaccompanied asylum-seeking 
children. 
 

Proportions of looked after children by primary need England, 31 March 2018

 
 

NOTE: For this report- the timescale is from 01 April 2017- 31 March 2018. 
 
3.1 The Policy context 
 
Services and responsibilities for LAC are underpinned by an array of legislation, 
statutory guidance and good practice guidance which include:  
 

 Promoting the health & well-being of looked-after children (2009, updated in 2015)  

 Working Together to Safeguard Children (2010, 2015)  

 The Children Act (1989, 2004)  

 Children & Families Act (2014)  

 The Health & Social Care Act (2012)  

 The Leaving Care Act (2000)  

 Adoption and Children Act (2002) 

 Care Planning, Placement and Case Review (England) Regulations (2010)  

 Intercollegiate Role Framework; Looked-after Children: Knowledge, skills & 

Competencies for Health Staff (2012, 2015)  

 National Institute of Clinical Excellence (NICE) Quality Standard (QS31) for the 

Health & Well-being of Looked After Children (April 2013)  

 Safeguarding Vulnerable People in the Reformed NHS – Accountability & Assurance 

Framework (2015)  

Page 14



 

Final NHS Brent CCG LAC Annual Report 2018-2019                                            7 
 
 

 National Tariff Payment System 2015/2016 

 Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) code of practice: 0 to 25 years 

(2015) 

 Children and Social Work Act (2017) 

 Safeguarding unaccompanied asylum seeking and refugee children (2016) 

 Strategy setting out the government’s commitments to safeguard and promote the 

welfare of unaccompanied asylum seeking and refugee children (2017). 

 

4.0 Governance & accountability for LAC health services in Brent 

LAC interface closely with safeguarding children and governance arrangements, and 

are therefore aligned. 

 The NWL Collaboration of CCGs Designated Safeguarding Professionals Meeting 

supports the work to share and align safeguarding children, looked after children and 

safeguarding adult standards and practices across eight CCGs.  This forum provides 

the link to the Strategic Chief Nurse and Director of Quality, as the professional lead 

for safeguarding on the Boards and Designated Professionals across the eight 

CCGs. The Assistant Director provides line management to the Designated 

Professionals for LAC in Brent. Brent Children’s Trust (BCT) is a local partnership. 

The primary functions relate to developing a joint vision and strategy for improving 

outcomes and commissioning. This requires joint planning and collaborative working 

to ensure that resources are allocated and utilised to deliver the maximum benefits 

for children and young people, including those who are looked after. 

 The Local Partnership Group for LAC is a transformational group whose purpose is 

to deliver a programme of work that will support the actions for LAC Joint 

Commissioning Framework. The group is accountable to the Children’s Trust 

 Accountability for the services provided to LAC from both the local authority and the 

CCG is directed through the Local Partnership Group. The Designated Nurse for 

LAC attends the Local Partnership Group meetings in line with national 

recommendations. 

 The Joint LAC Quality Performance Monitoring Meeting is bi monthly and chaired 

alternately by the Children’s Commissioners from the Local Authority (LA) and 

Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG). It is attended by Senior Management from the 

LA and LNWUHT, the Lead Doctor and Nurse for LAC, LNWUHT and the 

Designated Nurse for LAC, NHS Brent CCG. 

 The Local Children’s Safeguarding Boards are attended by the Designated 

Professionals for Safeguarding Children. 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 15



 

Final NHS Brent CCG LAC Annual Report 2018-2019                                            8 
 
 

4.1 Local Leadership for LAC 
 
In 2018/2019: 
 

 The Executive Lead for Safeguarding Children and LAC is the Managing Director, 

NHS Brent CCG. 

 The Senior Responsible Officer SRO in NHS Brent CCG is the Assistant Director for 

Mental Health, Learning Disability, children, maternity, communications, 

Safeguarding and Looked After Children. 

 The Lead Nurse & Director for Quality, Safety and Risk is the professional lead for 

the Designated Professionals for both Safeguarding and LAC across the eight NWL 

Collaboration of CCG’s. 

 

4.2 NHS Brent CCG Safeguarding Governance Structure (2019) 
 

 
 
 
 
5.0 The age profile of Looked After Children  

The number of children starting to be looked after has fallen slightly this year, by 3%, 
after a period of gradual increases. 32,050 children started to be looked after in the 
year ending 31 March 2018, down from 32,940 in 2017. 
 
The national year is for a previous financial year due to time taken for reporting.    

Page 16



 

Final NHS Brent CCG LAC Annual Report 2018-2019                                            9 
 
 

 
5.1 Brent LAC population. (Brent Local Authority statistics)   

LAC by Age Group 
Under 
1 

1 - 4     5 - 9     10 - 15   
16 and 
over  

Total 

England 2017-18 4525 9804 14330 29414 17347 75,420 

Brent 2018-19   8 24 34 105 128 299 

Brent 2017-18 16 25 31 119 127 318 

Brent 2016-17 12 21 40 108 138 319 

Brent 2015-16 13 16 54 132 121 335 

 

Gender Male Female 

Brent 2018-19 186 113 

Brent 2017-18 199 119 

Brent 2016-17 206 113 

Brent 2015-16 206 130 

 

CARE/STARTED / 
CEASED  

2019 

Total Number of Children 
who have Started to be 
Looked After 

162 

Total Number of Children 
who have Ceased Care 

175 

Number LAC at 31st 
March 

299 

UASC 54 

 

Between April 2018 and March 2019 a total of 299 children were accommodated by 
Brent LA. There were 318 children looked after at 31st March 2018, a decrease of 
6.3%.  
 
The gender of the Brent LAC population consists of 62.2% Male and 37.8% Female. 
 
Children aged 16 years and over make up the highest proportion of Brent Looked 
After Children (42.8%) compared to 40.0% at the end of March 2018. Of the 299 
children looked after at 31st March 2019, there was a decrease of 2.3% in the 
children looked after aged 0-1 year. In the 1-4 years age group this remained the 
same at 8%. In the age group 5-9 years there was an increase of 1.4%, in the age 
groups 10-15 years there was a decrease of 1.9% and in the age group 16 years 
and over there was an increase of 2.8% aged 10-15 compared to 31st March 2018.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 17



 

Final NHS Brent CCG LAC Annual Report 2018-2019                                            10 
 
 

5.2 The ethnicity of LAC in Brent as at 31st March 2019 was as follows: 
 

 
SN refers to statistical neighbours 

Brent is ethnically diverse: 64.7% of the population is Black, Asian or other minority ethnicity 
(BAME). The Indian ethnic group currently makes up the largest minority group representing 
17.6% of the population, followed by Other Asian (12%). The White ethnic group represents 
33%. 
Source: Public Sector Equality Duty Report Brent Clinical Commissioning Group                                        
01 January 2018 – 31 December 2018. 
 

6.0 Placement of Brent’s LAC as at 31st March 2019 were as follows 

LAC by Placement Type Brent 
2018-19 

Brent 
2017-18 

Brent 
2016-17 

Brent  
2015-16 

Foster placements 192 212 204 236 

Placed for adoption 2 4 8 x 

Placement with parents 8 8 x x 

Other placement in the community 0  x 0 

Secure units, children's homes and semi-
independent living accommodation 

88 81 94 85 

Other residential settings  4 9 x x 

Residential schools  5 4 6 x 

Other placement 0 0 0 0 

 

Page 18



 

Final NHS Brent CCG LAC Annual Report 2018-2019                                            11 
 
 

6.1 Brent LAC at 31 March 2019 by placement location  
 

 
 

117 (39%) of Brent LAC are placed under 20 miles and inside Brent LA boundary. 

A high proportion of Brent’s LAC 182 (61%) are placed over 20 miles away i.e. 
outside the LA boundary. This is due to a shortage of local placements which is a 
common finding, particularly across London.  

The placement of LAC outside of the borough has implications for the LNWUHT LAC 
Health Team in terms of resources, capacity and ensuring the continuity of high 
quality health care. In cases where the nurses are not able to see the child or young 
person, a request is made to the health team within the child’s placement area, in 
line with the statutory guidance and the National Tariff Payment System.5  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                
5
 https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/05/who-pays.pdf 

 

-

5.0%

10.0%

15.0%

20.0%

25.0%

30.0%

35.0%

40.0%

45.0%

Under 20 miles
and inside LA

boundary

Under 20 miles
and outside LA

boundary

Over 20 miles
and inside LA

boundary

Over 20 miles
and outside LA

boundary

Distance not
known or not

recorded

2016-17

2017-18

2018-19

Page 19

https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/05/who-pays.pdf


 

Final NHS Brent CCG LAC Annual Report 2018-2019                                            12 
 
 

6.2 Legal status of all Brent LAC  
 
The majority of Brent Looked After Children are subject to Care Orders i.e. Interim 
Care Orders and Full Care Orders under the Children Act 1989, representing 58% of 
all LAC in this reporting year. A further (37% of all LAC) were in care through a 
voluntary agreement with the parents/carers. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

13 

45 

0 

3 

37 

1 

0 

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70

Interim care orders

Full care orders

Freed for adoption

Placement order granted

Accommodated under S20

Detained on child protection grounds in
LA accommodation

Youth justice legal Statuses

Children looked after at 31 March 2019 by legal status (%) 

LA 2018-19 % LA 2017-18 % SN 2017-18 % Eng 2017-18 %

Page 20



 

Final NHS Brent CCG LAC Annual Report 2018-2019                                            13 
 
 

6.3 Brent children starting a LAC episode by reason (category) of need 

 

(All above data provided by Brent LA) 

 

6.4 Number of LAC from other areas placed in Brent  

The CCG and LNWUHT also have a duty to comply with requests for support from 
other Local Authorities (OLA’s) and CCG’s who have their LAC placed within the 
Brent borough. This includes requests to undertake health assessments on behalf of 
the originating CCG. This number is only an indication. During the period 1st April 
2018 – 31st March 2019 the LNWUHT LAC Health Team completed 29 health 
assessments for LAC placed within Brent from other LA’s. (The previous year they 

completed 17).  Whilst LA’s should be informing us when they place children in our 
borough and when they move them out, we do find that this is not consistent. 

This is set to increase in the coming year following the introduction of the Standard 
Variation. Brent has a significant number of Looked after children from other 
boroughs; It is difficult to get an accurate number due to gaps in the notification 
process. It is estimated to be between 60 and 80 Children and young people. 
LNWUHT are now charging for undertaking health assessments for LAC from other 
areas. This is a mandatory charge in accordance with the NHS 2017/18 and 2018/19 
National Tariff Payment System6.  

                                                
6
 https://improvement.nhs.uk/documents/1044/2017-18_and_2018-

19_National_Tariff_Payment_System.pdff 

Page 21

https://improvement.nhs.uk/documents/1044/2017-18_and_2018-19_National_Tariff_Payment_System.pdff
https://improvement.nhs.uk/documents/1044/2017-18_and_2018-19_National_Tariff_Payment_System.pdff


 

Final NHS Brent CCG LAC Annual Report 2018-2019                                            14 
 
 

7.0 Health Team for Looked After Children in Brent 

 
The LAC Health team is provided by the Community Paediatric Services of the 
London North West University Healthcare Trust in Brent. 

The table below details the existing staffing posts and working hours dedicated to 
LAC within Brent. 

Position/ Organisation WTE 

Designated Nurse LAC -CCG  0.6 

Designated Doctor LAC- CCG 0.20 

Medical Advisor Adoption & 

Fostering/LNWUHT 

0.25 

Short term fostering AH 

forms/panel support/LNWUHT 

Included in admin posts 

Lead Doctor LAC/LNWUHT 0.25 

Lead Specialist Nurse 

LAC/LNWUHT, Band 8a 

1 

Specialist Nurse LAC/LNWUHT, 

Band 7 

2 

LAC Admin, Band 4 /LNWUHT 1 

LAC Admin, Band 3 /LNWUHT 1 

 

It is not possible to compare the staffing levels within the LNWUHT LAC Health 
Team with teams from other areas. This is due because nationally there remains 
considerable variation of staffing levels within LAC Health Teams which are not 
necessarily being determined by caseload sizes. Nursing and Midwifery guidance 
indicates safe staffing levels of 1WTE Nurse per 100 children 

7.1 Staffing  

At the end of 2017 the Designated Doctor for LAC commenced the role as part of the 
CCG for 2 sessions a week. The lead doctor for LAC remains part of LNWUHT. 

The health team covering the provider services have shown consistent leadership 
and committed provision over the year. 

 

 

Page 22



 

Final NHS Brent CCG LAC Annual Report 2018-2019                                            15 
 
 

8.0 Monitoring timeliness of Health Assessment, Key Performance Indicators 
(KPI) and Targets for LAC in 2018-19. 

Brent Local Authority and Brent Community Services have a shared protocol and in 
accordance with the statutory guidance, ‘Promoting the Health of Looked After 
Children, March 20157 this specifies the completion of a holistic health assessment 
for children entering care with regular review health assessments thereafter. 

The statutory requirements include 

 That all LAC should receive an initial health assessment (IHA) within 20 working 
days of child becoming looked after this includes booking and completing 
assessment as well as completion of the Health Action Plan (IHA) 

 Children under 5 years receive a review health assessment (RHA) every 6 
months 

 Children and young people over 5 years will receive review health assessments 
(RHA) every 12 months 

 The operational protocol includes the following: 

The Local Authority will refer new LAC to the LAC Health Team or other health 
professional e.g. out of borough placements within 5 working days of LAC start date. 
This should include obtaining parental consent when necessary.  
Parents should be encouraged to attend the health assessment when appropriate. 
Health information should follow the child e.g. immunisation history, birth/medical 
history, family and social history including information on substance misuse, mental 
or physical health issues, school/nursery, dentist and GP summary record. 
 
8.1 Timeliness of Notifications and Statutory Health Assessments 

The majority of health assessments for LAC are completed by the LNWUHT LAC 
Health Team within the statutory timeframes. Meeting these timeframes relies 
heavily on the LAC Health Team receiving prompt notification from the LA about 
children requiring health assessments. Unfortunately, a number of these notifications 
are delayed resulting in increased pressure on the LAC Health Team. 

It is a statutory requirement that children and young people who are looked after 
receive a health assessment at specified points during their time in care. The 
purpose of these health assessments is to identify health needs promptly so that the 
appropriate care and treatment can be arranged. 

Health and social care have a joint responsibility and must work together to ensure 
the timeliness and quality of health assessments for LAC. To support this area of 
work in Brent a joint protocol has been developed to clarify processes, arrangements 
and accountability.  

When Children and Young People (CYP) are placed in secure accommodation they 

                                                
7
 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/promoting-the-health-and-wellbeing-of-

looked-after-children--2015 

Page 23

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/promoting-the-health-and-wellbeing-of-looked-after-children--2015
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/promoting-the-health-and-wellbeing-of-looked-after-children--2015


 

Final NHS Brent CCG LAC Annual Report 2018-2019                                            16 
 
 

undergo a comprehensive health assessment tool (CHAT) undertaken by an 
independent nurse professional commissioned by Care UK. Often there is no 
communication in respect of health needs with the placing provider service and there 
is a delay in sending the health information back to Brent. There is no national 
standard pathway to ensure that all CYP placed in secure accommodation undergo a 
health assessment in a timely manner. 

The completion of health assessments for LAC within the statutory timeframe is 
robustly monitored at bi monthly Joint Quality and Monitoring Meetings.  

Summary of notifications for Coram BAAF IHA received from Brent LA- April 2018- 
March 2019 

 

There is an increase in IHAs in the 0-5 year age group (32) in 2018-2019 compared to 
(14) in 2017-2018. 

There is an increase in IHAs in the 5-15 year age group (58) in 2018-2019 compared to 
(35) in 2017-2018. 

Numbers remain similar in the 16-18 year group (46) for 2018-19, (51) in 2017-2018. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

9 

18 16 

43 

5 

25 25 

55 

0 
8 5 

13 14 

58 

46 

118 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

under 5 Over 5 16 plus Total

Data for Brent IHAs 2018-2019 

Brent LAC in Brent

Brent LAC Placed in
London
Brent LAC Placed Out of
London
Total

Page 24



 

Final NHS Brent CCG LAC Annual Report 2018-2019                                            17 
 
 

Summary of notifications for Coram BAAF RHA received from Brent LA- April 
2018- March 2019 

 

There has been a decrease in the number of completed RHA (217) seen in 2018-
2019 compared to (271) in 2017-2018. This can be accounted for in the number of 
YP who have reached 18 years and also those who are no longer Looked After. The 
overall figures compared to last year remain relatively consistent. Again, the 
placement of CYP is higher across London boroughs and outside of London, 
compared to placements made within the borough of Brent. 
                                                                        

Brent CCG, LA & LNWUHT continue to work together to improve processes for 
arranging health assessments. To date this has included monitoring of the Joint 
Protocol Action Plan;     
 
Objectives of the Action Plan: 

 To improve timeliness of Initial and Review Health Assessment notifications for 
looked after children 

 To trouble-shoot dilemmas/barriers in current practice and establish effective 
systems to address those 

 To improve communication and partnership between Children’s Social Care and 
Health colleagues via achieving co-location and better functioning IT systems. 

 
It is delivered by an Operational Group under Heads of Service supervision; 
monitored via LAC Health Quality Assurance Group and progress. 
Additionally, there is an escalation process, visual guides and training of social work 
teams.   
 
 
 
 
 

13 

36 41 

90 

9 

35 38 

82 

1 

24 20 

45 

23 

95 99 

217 

0

50

100

150

200

250

Under 5 Over 5 16plus Total

Data for Brent RHAs 2018-2019 

Brent LAC in Brent

Brent LAC placed in London

Brent LAC placed out of
London

Total

Page 25



 

Final NHS Brent CCG LAC Annual Report 2018-2019                                            18 
 
 

8.1 Plans to make further improvements in access, outcomes and/experiences for 
2018/19  
 
There are further improvements around the requirements that are undertaken in 
relation to LAC due to changes in tariff arrangements and the alignment of health 
assessments for all LAC. NHS England has identified variations in relation to both 
quality and payment processes8. The CCG is facilitating multi-agency workshops to 
review current arrangements of health assessments and funding options. 
 
8.2 Quality Assurance of Health Assessments & Health Plans 

The Brent Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2008 – 20188 include the key objectives to 
deliver progress on this priority for helping vulnerable families; “To improve the 
health of looked after children and young people”. 

All healthcare staff who comes into contact with LAC should be working within the 
Royal Colleges Intercollegiate Framework9. This framework identifies the 
competences that enable healthcare staff to promote the health and well-being of 
LAC effectively and safely. 

8.3 Audits  

Brent LAC Health Provider record keeping audit  

• Records were randomly selected by the Senior LAC Health Administrator from 

Brent LAC Health Provider Team.  

• The ages of the CYP ranged between newborn to 18 years old to include both male 

and female CYP.  

• A sample of 40 anonymised cases were reviewed, 20 IHAs and 20 RHAs which 

included health assessments which were undertaken both in and out of the borough.  

Areas of good practice were noted:  

Overall the results are good; records are accurate, written contemporaneously and 

objectively, using appropriate language.  Consent was recorded in all records.  The 

Record keeping demographics audited included; full name, date of birth, ethnicity, 

address, contact number and GP details. Of the records viewed 1 record did not 

have a patient’s full name, and 4 records did not record the ethnicity.  GP details 

were recorded in all records.   

                                                
8 
https://www.brent.gov.uk/media/10211032/Health%20and%20Wellbeing%20Strategy%2020
14-2017%20refreshed.pdf 
 
9 Intercollegiate Role Framework, Looked after children: Knowledge, skills and 
competences of health care staff; March 2015 

http://www.rcpch.ac.uk/system/files/protected/page/Looked%20After%20Children%20201
5_0.pdf 

Page 26

https://www.brent.gov.uk/media/10211032/Health%20and%20Wellbeing%20Strategy%202014-2017%20refreshed.pdf
https://www.brent.gov.uk/media/10211032/Health%20and%20Wellbeing%20Strategy%202014-2017%20refreshed.pdf
http://www.rcpch.ac.uk/system/files/protected/page/Looked%20After%20Children%202015_0.pdf
http://www.rcpch.ac.uk/system/files/protected/page/Looked%20After%20Children%202015_0.pdf


 

Final NHS Brent CCG LAC Annual Report 2018-2019                                            19 
 
 

Areas for improvement are: 

The use of abbreviations in records should be avoided to ensure clear understanding 

of the records.   

The health provider is currently not giving the patient/carer leaflets or additional 

written information, which would support the care plan developed with the children 

and young people. 

A Care Leaver audit: 

A Care Leaver audit was undertaken by LNWH Trust on 30 YP who were selected 
randomly from the master list aged between 16-18 years. 8 (27%) of the YP were 
unaccompanied asylum seeking children (UASC). The YP were known to the service 
between 1st April 2018 and 31st March 2019. RHAs were looked at retrospectively. 
The audit tool was created by the Designated Nurse for LAC, NHS Brent CCG. The 
audit looked at medical, family medication and immunisation histories to include if 
they were registered with a GP, Dentist and Optician. A question was included if 
health summaries records were available to ensure that they have timely access to 
health services support. 
 
Good areas of practice areas were: 

 Documentation of educational and developmental progress  

 Where the YP lives is documented 

 Evidence records of GP, dentist and optician  

 Immunisation history  

 Giving of appropriate sexual health advice and signposting 

 Giving advice on health promotion and signposting 
 
Areas for improvement highlighted: 

 Health summary record was not available when the final review health 
assessment was undertaken 

 The name of the LA personal advisor for YP aged 16-18 who would be 
transitioning to adult services was not made known to health professionals 
 

Recommendations from this audit have highlighted health summaries: 

 Record general health history, family history into the health summary record 

 Health passport for the YP, a digital format is currently being considered 

 Advice on how the YP can assess GP services including other health services 

 Give advice on how the YP can access personal health records from the GP 

 Include GP and other health professionals contact information  

 Follow up for those who have on-going health needs to ensure that there is a 
smooth transition to adult service provision   

 
 

 

 

Page 27



 

Final NHS Brent CCG LAC Annual Report 2018-2019                                            20 
 
 

 

8.4 Monitoring of Health Outcomes for LAC 

The CCG, LNWUHT and the LA have a joint responsibility to monitor the health 
outcomes of Brent LAC. This requires regular monitoring of the child or young 
person’s individual health plan to ensure that they are being implemented.  

 
9.0 Brent Child Health profile outcome Indicators for Looked After Children 
 
National performance indicators are produced in partnership with social care in 
children looked after at 31st March who had been looked after for at least 12 months. 
These indicators provide data for the Children’s Annual Performance Assessment 
required by central government from social care departments. 
The following data, submitted to DfE, covers all children and young people who have 
been looked after continuously for 12 months as of the 31st March 201910.  
 

 Annual Health Assessments – 96.4% of LAC had received their statutory 

health assessment in 2018/2019. There is an increase from 2017/2018 

(92.0%) data but higher than the national average of 88.0% 

 

 Substance Misuse – 8.8% of Brent’s LAC population for more than one year 

were identified as having a substance misuse problem. This shows a decrease of 

compared to 2017/2018 (15%). Nationally, of the 52,180 children looked after for at 

least 12 months in the year ending 31 March 2018, 4% were identified as having a 

substance misuse problem. The percentage of children looked after who were identified 

as having a substance misuse problem has remained the same since 2016. 

. 

 Annual Dental Checks – 82.5% of LAC in Brent had an up to date dental 

check in 2018/19 compared to 84.0% in 2017/2018. This is lower than the 

national average of 84%. 

 

 Immunisations – 70.6% of LAC for more than one year were reported to 

have up to date immunisations remains stable compared to 67.0% in 

2017/18. This is lower than the national average of 85%.  Where no evidence is 

available. Many of these children and young people will have no record of their 

immunisation history and will therefore be recorded as having immunisations 

outstanding. It is proving difficult for the provider service to have full immunisation 

records in SystmOne that are up to date and difficulty in getting this information 

                                                
10 https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/2018-child-health-profile.  
 
 

 

Page 28

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/2018-child-health-profiles


 

Final NHS Brent CCG LAC Annual Report 2018-2019                                            21 
 
 

from GP’s wherever the CYP is placed. The quality of data remains problematic 

on the CHIS platform. 

 

 Up to date Development Assessment (under 5’s) – 100% of children had 

received their developmental assessment. This is higher than the national 

average of 85%. 

 

 Pregnancy or Parenting – There was no data that specifically denote LAC 

population.  

 
10.0 Responding to the emotional health and wellbeing needs of Looked After 
Children in Brent  
 
The high levels of poor mental health amongst children in the care system and care 
leavers are well documented with almost half having a diagnosable mental health 
problem11. Delays in these children receiving the support and intervention they need 
can have far reaching and long-term harmful consequences. 

Child and adolescent mental health services (CAMHS) play a crucial role in 
assessing and meeting any needs identified as part of the Strengths and Difficulties 
Questionnaire (SDQ) screening process. 

CCGs, local authorities and NHS England will ensure that CAMHS and other 
services provide targeted and dedicated support to looked-after children according to 
need. This could include a dedicated team or seconding a CAMHS professional into 
a looked-after children multi-agency team. Professionals need to work together with 
the child to assess and meet their mental health needs in a tailored way. 

 
In March 2015 the government published ‘Future in Mind’12, their ambition and 
strategy for promoting, protecting and improving the mental health of children and 
young people. The report acknowledges the particular vulnerability of LAC and care 
leavers and the importance of them being able to access timely, high quality well-
coordinated mental health care.  
 
In response to ‘Future in Mind’, Brent CCG has been working collaboratively with 
neighbouring CCG’s to develop a CAMHS transformation plan and improve 
outcomes for children.   
 
Implementing ‘Future in Mind, 2015’ Transforming the care pathway for children and 
adolescents with mental health needs, introducing a ‘tier free’ model and ensuring 

                                                
11 What works in preventing and treating poor mental health in looked after children? 
Luke, N. et al. (2014) 

https://www.nspcc.org.uk/globalassets/documents/evaluation-of-services/preventing-
treating-mental-health-looked-after-children-summary 
12 Future in Mind: Children and Young People’s Mental Wellbeing 
https://www.england.nhs.uk/blog/martin-mcshane-14/ 

Page 29

https://www.nspcc.org.uk/globalassets/documents/evaluation-of-services/preventing-treating-mental-health-looked-after-children-summary
https://www.nspcc.org.uk/globalassets/documents/evaluation-of-services/preventing-treating-mental-health-looked-after-children-summary
https://www.england.nhs.uk/blog/martin-mcshane-14/


 

Final NHS Brent CCG LAC Annual Report 2018-2019                                            22 
 
 

that when children do need to be admitted to specialist tier 4 services they are able 
to do so within London, close to home. 
 
Brent CCG currently commissions the following: 
 
Specialist CAMHS services are commissioned by Brent CCG provided by Central 
and North West London (CNWL) NHS Foundation Trust. LAC can access specialist 
community CAMHS and are prioritised alongside other children based on clinical 
need. 
 

 Tier 2 (single professional) and Tier 3 (multidisciplinary team) CAMHS from 
CNWL by the Local Authority as support for social care professionals and 
foster carers13. 

 Tier 2 CAMHS psychological therapy from Brent Children and Young People’s 
Service 

 Low volume of Tier 2 family therapy from The Tavistock and Portman NHS 
Foundation Trust 

 
A mapping exercise was conducted by Brent mental health commissioners that 
included the LAC services – presented in January 2018.  
 
On a case by case basis individual funding requests are agreed for specialist 
placements that have mental health provision integral to the service providing 
assessments and therapeutic input for the child and young person. These 
placements are jointly funded by Brent Social Care and the CCG as part continuing 
health care cases. 
 
10.1 Screening for the emotional health of LAC via Strengths & Difficulties 
Questionnaires (SDQ) 
 
 
The SDQ should be completed for every child looked after for at least 12 months and 
aged 5 to 16 years-old as at the end of March14. 
 
Research has found that the use of the SDQ with LAC is effective in estimating the 
prevalence of mental health conditions15.  

                                                
13 https://camhs.cnwl.nhs.uk/find-services/clinics/brent-emotional-wellbeing-service/ 
14  
Children looked after in England (including adoption and care leavers), year ending 
31 March 2017: additional tables (Page 14) 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_
data/file/664998/SFR50_2017_Additional_Tables_Text.pdf 
15 What works in preventing and treating poor mental health in looked after children? 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY Nikki Luke, Ian Sinclair, Matt Woolgar and Judy Sebba; 
(2014) 
https://www.nspcc.org.uk/globalassets/documents/evaluation-of-services/preventing-
treating-mental-health-looked-after-children-summary   
 

Page 30

https://camhs.cnwl.nhs.uk/find-services/clinics/brent-emotional-wellbeing-service/
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/664998/SFR50_2017_Additional_Tables_Text.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/664998/SFR50_2017_Additional_Tables_Text.pdf
https://www.nspcc.org.uk/globalassets/documents/evaluation-of-services/preventing-treating-mental-health-looked-after-children-summary
https://www.nspcc.org.uk/globalassets/documents/evaluation-of-services/preventing-treating-mental-health-looked-after-children-summary


 

Final NHS Brent CCG LAC Annual Report 2018-2019                                            23 
 
 

 
The SDQ tool was introduced into the DfE data collection for LAC in 2008 and has 
remained the outcome measure used for tracking the emotional and behavioral 
difficulties of LAC at a national level. 
 
It is recommended that the child’s main carer, i.e. their foster carer, helps them to 
complete the questionnaire with support from their social worker. The completed 
SDQ should be sent back to the local authority. The completed SDQ should be 
repeated annually and be available to inform the Review Health Assessment (RHA). 
 
As of 31st March 2019 a snapshot of eligible looked after children in care for at least 
twelve months aged 5 to 16 with an SDQ score in Brent showed that 89.8% had a 
completed SDQ. This is an increase (47.0%) in 2017-18.  
 

 
Obtained from Brent LA data 
 
Of the 39,590 children aged 5 to 16 years, who were looked after at 31 March 2018 for at 
least 12 months, 30,730 (78%) had a SDQ score reported, up from 76% in 2017 and 75% in 
2018.16  

 
As an action plan throughout 2018 the Service Manager for LAC and Permanency 

Service alongside the Clinical Psychologist and Team Lead for Brent Emotional 
Wellbeing Team, Children with Disabilities & Looked after Children (CAMHS) 
delivered SDQ training awareness to social workers and foster carers. The SDQ 
component is now available on the LA Mosaic IT system to enable social workers to 
complete and have the SDQ scoring available for all eligible review health 
assessments. This has now reflected with an increased uptake in 2018-19. 
 
10.1 Looked After Children (LAC) and Adopted Children - CAMHS  

                                                
16 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_da
ta/file/757922/Children_looked_after_in_England_2018_Text_revised.pdf 

 

Page 31

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/757922/Children_looked_after_in_England_2018_Text_revised.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/757922/Children_looked_after_in_England_2018_Text_revised.pdf


 

Final NHS Brent CCG LAC Annual Report 2018-2019                                            24 
 
 

 
The definition of vulnerable group has been widened that has improved accessibility 
for Brent’s most vulnerable Children and Young People including LAC. Their mental 
health and wellbeing would be picked up by the professionals during initial and 
review of health assessment and referrals made according to their needs.  In 
addition this is also picked up in the SDQ and acted upon.  There is on-going 
awareness raising of GP’s and partners of the needs and vulnerabilities of LAC, as 
part of overall safeguarding training..  
 
To prevent family breakdown and support families in crisis the local authority have 
developed the Accelerated Support Team (AST) which provides a rapid-response 
service to young people between the ages of 11 and 17 and their families. The team 
intervenes when the situation at home appears to be getting more serious, and 
where there is a risk of the child/children entering the care system if the situation 
does not improve.  The team can be mobilised quickly, providing intensive support 
for up to 12 weeks to address problems operating across extended hours.   
 
NHS Brent CCG commissions a specialist LAC-CAMHS worker who coordinates the 
mental illness treatment and emotional wellbeing and to facilitate any learning and 
development needed to help contain anxiety between professionals.  The Local 
Authority has additional support to practitioners, foster carers and some 1: 1 
sessions.  
 
Brent will be prototyping a specialist mental health worker as part of the Looked After 
Children’s placement team.  Social workers, and teams of professionals (particularly 
for the >150 children placed outside Brent) would get advice on suitable services and 
care planning.  
 
Despite multiple attempts to recruit a LAC worker the post is unfilled at the moment.  

 
 
 
Next Steps 
 

 Recruit LAC worker for out of borough placements to improve mental health of LAC 
placed out of borough through earlier access to local services and reduction in 
placement breakdowns.  

 
 
10.2 Care Leavers 
 
Young people’s health needs do not end because they have ceased to be looked 
after. The support follows the young person.  Statutory guidance on ‘Promoting the 
health and well-being of looked after children’ requires Local Authorities, Clinical 
Commissioning Groups and NHS England to ensure that there are effective plans in 
place to enable looked-after children aged 16 or 17 to make a smooth transition to 
adulthood. The leaving care summary, sometimes known as the care leaver’s 
passport, is aimed at ensuring that the young person has a record of their health 
history, the health needs of the individual are documented and that there is sufficient 

Page 32



 

Final NHS Brent CCG LAC Annual Report 2018-2019                                            25 
 
 

signposting to help to address the issues that young people face when leaving 
care.  There are around 325 care leavers between the ages of 18 -25 in Brent. 
 
10.3 Multi-agency Audit of Semi-Independent Providers. 
 
A multi-agency audit (local authority and Brent CCG) was undertaken of 3 semi-
independent providers, including Centrepoint, between September 2018 and 
February 2019. The audit found that young people interviewed confirmed that they 
were being prepared for independent living. All young people were registered with a 
GP, dentist and optician. 80% were in some form of education, employment or 
training. One provider used a personal outcomes framework for each young person 
that set out how they would be supported to transition to adulthood. In terms of 
facilities, all properties complied with Health and Safety requirements. 

The audit also identified a number of areas for improvement. The audit found 
inconsistency in the quality of accommodation across the sample of units, for 
example not all provided access to desks and computer facilities to support personal 
study. The accommodation of one provider was considered to be of poor quality and 
actions were taken by the provider to improve this quality, including to install a new 
shared bathroom and kitchen. 

Whilst all three providers supplied evidence that young people were supported in 
preparing for adulthood, not all providers had a structured programme that prepares 
young people for adulthood and independence and a framework that sets out how 
young people will be supported to be healthy and to participate in activities and 
opportunities aimed at improving young people’s self-esteem, confidence and 
economic well-being. 

Providers are being supported to develop structured frameworks by signposting to 
good examples when these are not in place. 

There was variability in how young people’s health needs are supported. Contract 
requirements that all staff are fully aware of the health plans and medical needs of 
each young person have been clarified, as has the requirement that social workers 
and personal advisors are kept fully abreast of young people’s health needs so that 
they can ensure that relevant multi-agency professionals are working together to 
provide holistic support. Through the audit process, health colleagues have 
recommended that staff and all young people have access to the ‘NHS go’ App that 
provides health information and information about local clinics, A/E, NHS walk-in 
health centres, alcohol, drug and substance misuse services, services related to 
mental health and emotional well-being and one stop information services. 
Information regarding this App has been circulated to providers. 

(Source: Update on Semi-independent Provision for looked after children and care 
leavers- for Brent Corporate Parenting Meeting held on 24/07/2019)  

 
 
 
 

Page 33



 

Final NHS Brent CCG LAC Annual Report 2018-2019                                            26 
 
 

Children with Disabilities (CWD) emotional wellbeing service and Training  
 
Brent has a dedicated service to offer support and advice to foster carers and 
parents. This is commissioned by Brent Council.  This provision by LA was moved to 
Central & North West London NHS Foundation Trust, to align with other Brent 
CAMHS developments in September 2018. 
In addition other CAMHs commissioned services have an element of training for all 
practitioners including school settings. 
 
Brent CCG has dedicated funding for training school staff, practitioners, GPs that is 
delivered by local authority.  
 
Next Steps 
 

 Continue to carry out the recruitment of LAC out of area post. 

 Continue training programme. 
 
 

11.0 Special Educational Needs and Disability 

In September 2014 the special educational needs and disability (SEND) reforms 
came into effect as part of the Children and Families Act 2014. See the SEND code 
of practice: 0 to 25 years. 

Following on the Brent joint Ofsted and C.Q.C. inspection of Special Educational 
Needs & Disability (SEND) in May 2017, the LAC health team continue to link LAC 
children and their educational and also their disability needs.  

Work is on-going to try and have a better overview of vulnerable youths in prisons 
and to highlight whether their disabilities and specifically learning needs are being 
addressed and met. 

11.1 Brent Virtual School 

Brent Virtual School (BVS) does not exist in real terms, or as a building. Children do 
not attend it - they remain the responsibility of the school at which they are enrolled. 
BVS is simply an organisation which has been created for the effective co-ordination 
of educational services at a strategic and operational level.  On average Brent has 
around 250 LAC of statutory school age, of which approximately 50 per cent are 
educated in schools in Brent.  

BVS also has a role in promoting the education of children and young people who 
are post LAC and may have been adopted or subject to a special guardianship 
(SGO) or child arrangement order. The role with post LAC is to offer advice and 
guidance to schools. 

As of 2018 local authority Virtual school now have a responsibility to offer advice and 
guidance to post LAC children e.g. those who have been adopted, or are on special 
guardianship or child arrangement orders. 

Page 34



 

Final NHS Brent CCG LAC Annual Report 2018-2019                                            27 
 
 

 Promotes the importance of a high quality education and high expectations for 
all LAC and YCL 

 Influences policy and develops and improves services for LAC and YCL 

 Promotes individual achievement and wellbeing by RAG rating our LAC 
cohorts and ensuring that the right children and young people are targeted 
with the right intervention at the right time 

 Provides advice, support and training to a wide range of professionals both in 
education and social care 

 Improves access to specialist services, mental health assessments and 
treatment 

 Provides access to professional advice and guidance on education, training 
and employment 

 Provides additional opportunities for out of school learning and enrichment 

 Facilitates access to early education and child care 

 Produces an Annual Achievement Report 

 Organises an annual Celebration of LAC Achievement Event. 
  
BVS is governed by Brent’s Corporate Parenting Committee. 

The head teacher, who is also head of inclusion, and the deputy head teacher 
provide strategic and operational leadership and management to the BVS team 
ensuring that all statutory duties are met and that all Brent LAC and YCL receive 
appropriate support and intervention.  They also oversee the allocation of the Pupil 
Premium Plus (PPP) and support Year 12 and 13 Personal Educational Plans.  

The Advisory Teachers track and monitor the progress of Brent LAC in their key 
stage, with a particular focus on those RAG rated as RED, coordinating and 
deploying BVS support to raise their attainment according to an assessment of their 
needs.  They quality assure statutory Personal Education Plans (PEPs) for LAC in 
their key stage.  They contribute to training for designated teachers, schools, social 
workers, foster carers and governors, and act as advocates by positively challenging 
the practice of schools. 

The Life Coach works to support all Year 11 LAC with their transition to post-16 
education and training.  

The Education Psychologist carries out assessments of identified LAC to support 
applications for statutory assessment.  She also contributes to the training 
programme. 

The Data Analyst supports the team, schools and social care colleagues with a wide 
range of data and information.  This includes the maintenance of detailed LAC Pupil 
Tracker.  

BVS also supports the key stage 5 cohort, carrying out PEPs for those in education 
or training and working with other professionals, in particular social care colleagues, 
to encourage those not in educations, employment or training to re-engage. 

 

Page 35



 

Final NHS Brent CCG LAC Annual Report 2018-2019                                            28 
 
 

12.0 Care Leavers  

Eligible children are young people aged between 16 and 17 who have been looked 
after by the Local Authority (LA) for at least 13 weeks, since the age of 14 and are 
still being looked after17. The period of 13 weeks does not need to be continuous and 
the young person can have entered care at any time in between the ages of 14 and 
18. The number of Eligible care leavers in Brent as of the 31st March 2019 was 108. 

A Relevant care leaver is a young person aged 16-17 years old who qualified as 
Eligible whilst in care, but left care before their 18th birthday. There are usually very 
few ‘Relevant’ young people and their status changes to ‘Former Relevant’ on their 
18th birthday. The number of relevant care leavers as of the 31st March 2019 was 7. 

Former relevant children are young people aged between 18 and 21 who have been 
either eligible or relevant children or both. If, at the age of 21, the young person is 
still being helped by the responsible authority with education or training, then he or 
she remains a former relevant child until a maximum age of 25, and the programme 
of education or training will be set out within the Pathway Plan.  

Statutory guidance18 requires CCG’s to ensure that care leavers are properly 
supported during their transition into adult services. It recommends that wherever 
possible, care leavers should be equipped to manage their own health needs and be 
provided with a summary of their health records (including genetic background and 
details of any illness and treatment). Care leavers need to know what health 
services, advice and support is available locally to meet their needs. 

In 2014 a Health Passport was introduced for all Care Leavers aged 16 years and 
over. The passport is completed by the nurses and contains useful information about 
the young person’s health history, including birth details if known. Although some 
young people appear to like the Health Passport the experience of the nursing staff 
is that they rarely remember to bring them to future appointments and/or often report 
losing them. All Care Leavers at the age of 17 years are now provided with a Care 
Leavers Health Summary. This is prepared for the YP’s Last annual Review. 
 

Moving forward it is likely that young people will be encouraged to register for their 
online ‘Summary Case Records’ which was introduced by GP’s across the NHS in 
2015.  

 

 

 

                                                
17

 Children looked after by local authorities in England (May 2018) 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_
data/file/713001/CLA_SSDA903_2018-19_Guide-Version_1.1.pdf 

18 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attach
ment_data/file/413368/Promoting_the_health_and_well-being_of_looked-
after_children.pdf 
 
 

Page 36

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/713001/CLA_SSDA903_2018-19_Guide-Version_1.1.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/713001/CLA_SSDA903_2018-19_Guide-Version_1.1.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/413368/Promoting_the_health_and_well-being_of_looked-after_children.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/413368/Promoting_the_health_and_well-being_of_looked-after_children.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/413368/Promoting_the_health_and_well-being_of_looked-after_children.pdf


 

Final NHS Brent CCG LAC Annual Report 2018-2019                                            29 
 
 

 

Table 2018-19 shows  

  
Brent 
2019 

 Brent 2018 Brent 2017 SN 2019 

Care Leavers now aged 
19, 20 and 21  

236 223 203 NOT AVAILABLE UNTIL PUBLISHED 

Local authority In touch 
with care leaver 

208 178 163 
 

Young person refuses 
contact 

2 13 15 
 

Young person no longer 
requires services 

5 6 0 
 

Local authority not in 
touch with care leaver 

21 26 25 
 

Young Person returned 
home more than 6 
months (RHOM) 

10 15     

% Care Leavers now 
aged 19, 20 and 21 who 
were looked after for a 
total of at least 13 weeks 
after their 14th birthday 
including some time after 
their 16th birthday 

100 100 100 
 

% Local authority In 
touch with care leaver 

88.1% 79.82% 80 
 

% Young person refuses 
contact 

0.8% 5.83% 7 
 

% Young person no 
longer requires services 

2.1% 2.69% 0 
 

% Local authority not in 
touch with care leaver 

8.9% 11.66% 12 
 

 

Recommendations: 

 
1. All Care Leavers to be provided with a ‘Care Leaver’s Summary’ once the 

final review health assessment is completed 

 
2. Encourage Care Leavers to register onto the online system in order that 

they can access their own GP records 

 
13.0 Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children (UASC)  
 
An unaccompanied asylum-seeking child (UASC) is an individual, who is under 18, 
who has applied for asylum in his/her own right, is separated from both parents and 
is not being cared for by an adult who by law or custom has responsibility to do so. 

Page 37



 

Final NHS Brent CCG LAC Annual Report 2018-2019                                            30 
 
 

 
In 2017, over 2500 separated children were referred to the Refugee Council's 
Children's Section. These children claim asylum in the UK, arriving alone, with no 
family to support them. They are seeking safety and protection, having to leave their 
country of origin due to conflict, political instability or other reasons. These children 
undertake long and difficult journeys to get to the UK. 
 
For unaccompanied asylum seeking children, 91% have a primary need of absent 
parenting and 5% are looked after due to abuse or neglect.19 20 
 
3,261 unaccompanied children were supported in 2018.  In recent years we have 
seen the increase in unaccompanied asylum-seeking children being largely driven by 
more males, however this year there is a greater increase in females – male 
unaccompanied asylum seeking children rose by 5% whereas female 
unaccompanied asylum-seeking children rose by 19% between 2016 and 2017. 
However, females still only account for 390 (8%) of unaccompanied asylum seeking 
children looked after at 31 March 201721. 
 
At 31 March 2018 there were 4,480 unaccompanied asylum-seeking children, down 4% on 
the number at 31 March 2017. In 2018, unaccompanied asylum-seeking children continue to 

represent around 6% of all children looked after in England.
22 

 
13.1 UASC placed in Brent 
 

Year 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 

Total  30 48 64 74 56 54 
 

There were 54 UASC as at 31/03/19 compared with 56 in March 2018 in Brent. The 
number of UASC care leavers is exceeding the number of new UASC LAC 
presentations.  
 
The health needs of UASC are often very complex. Many will be suffering from post-
traumatic stress related to their often tragic experiences and separation from their 
families. They will often have undiagnosed and untreated health conditions when 

                                                
19 Care of unaccompanied migrant children and child victims of modern slavery 
statutory guidance for local authorities November 2017 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attach
ment_data/file/656429/UASC_Statutory_Guidance_2017.pdf  
 

20 The Children’s Section 

https://www.refugeecouncil.org.uk/what_we_do/childrens_services 
21

 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attach
ment_data/file/664995/SFR50_2017-Children_looked_after_in_England.pdf 
22

 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attach
ment_data/file/757922/Children_looked_after_in_England_2018_Text_revised.pdf. 
https://www.refugeecouncil.org.uk/what_we_do/childrens_services 
 

Page 38

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/656429/UASC_Statutory_Guidance_2017.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/656429/UASC_Statutory_Guidance_2017.pdf
https://www.refugeecouncil.org.uk/what_we_do/childrens_services
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/664995/SFR50_2017-Children_looked_after_in_England.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/664995/SFR50_2017-Children_looked_after_in_England.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/757922/Children_looked_after_in_England_2018_Text_revised.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/757922/Children_looked_after_in_England_2018_Text_revised.pdf
https://www.refugeecouncil.org.uk/what_we_do/childrens_services


 

Final NHS Brent CCG LAC Annual Report 2018-2019                                            31 
 
 

they arrive and details regarding immunisations and past medical history is 
frequently missing.    

 
The complexity of health needs of UASC and the other contextual factors identified 
above will often mean that their assessments take more time and are more resource 
intensive than those involving LAC from within the UK. Interpreters are provided for 
all UASC who require this support during their health assessments. 
 
14.0 Adoption and Fostering 
 
During 2018-19 out of a total of 175 who ceased care 6 (3.4%) were adopted in 

Brent. 

It is a statutory requirement that community services Brent   provide, medical advice 

to adoption and long term fostering services. This involves the assessments of 

applicants   who wish to become foster carers or prospective adoptive parents with 

regards to their suitability.  The assessments include their physical, mental, 

emotional health and identifying life style issues that may impact on their ability to 

parent and care for children. The medical advisor   provides summaries, reports on 

applicants Adult Health/Adult Health 2 (AH/AH2) and children referred or who are 

looked after. The applicants need to be counselled on the children’s health, 

emotional needs,   genetic and future risks.  Pre counselling is an essential element 

of the matching process. This also supports provision of reports for court, social 

services and panels with information collation from the GP, social care, specialists   

and other health professionals.  Cases that do not go to adoption panel are dealt by 

ADM process for which reports are provided by the medical adviser. 

The medical advisor also provides induction, training to trainee doctors and social 

workers.  The medical advisor for adoption panel attends training, updates at the 

local authority LAC peer review group and London Coram BAAF health group. 

As a part of the regionalisation of adoption panels, the Brent adoption panel will join 

the London Adoption West (LAW) alongside three other boroughs from September 

2019. The plan is to have two adoption panels a month. 

During the year 2018, the Brent Medical Advisor for Adoption was on long term sick 

leave for seven months. The panel work was covered by the Medical Advisor to 

Ealing Adoption Panel. 

The medical advisor to short-term fostering panel attends the fostering panel once a 

month and completes summaries on short term foster carers on the adult health 

(AH/AH2) forms. 

15.0 Participation 
 
The voice of LAC should be embedded in all aspects of service development and 
delivery and they should be actively encouraged to participate in decisions about 

Page 39



 

Final NHS Brent CCG LAC Annual Report 2018-2019                                            32 
 
 

their health care. The Designated and Lead Nurses for LAC have worked with 
participation workers on a number of initiatives. 
 
A Multi-Agency Quality Assurance into semi-independent accommodation audit took 
place between September and December 2018. An audit subgroup was formed 
which included representatives from social care, CCG LAC Designated 
Professionals, virtual school, commissioning, safeguarding and participation. The 
purpose of this audit was to establish whether the arrangements are suitable for 
Young People (YP) and Care Leavers in terms of their safety, wellbeing and 
provision. This was a good opportunity to gain their views of experience with semi-
independent living and the support that they are given. Three semi-independent 
providers were selected in order to provide a sample of services working in different 
settings, with a diverse range of young people, and offering a variety of placements. 
All three services operate in or near London Borough of Brent. The report makes 

recommendations for improving the inspection and monitoring framework of ‘Other 
Arrangements’/’Suitable Accommodation’ in order to ensure appropriate standards are in 
place. 
 

‘Other Arrangements’ and ‘suitable accommodation’ is the term used for 
accommodation and placements for children looked after and care leavers usually 
aged 16 & 17, in some circumstances care leavers aged 18 and older which is not 
regulated under the Care Standards Act 2000 and as a result is not inspected by 
Ofsted or the CQC. 
 
The LNWUHT routinely involves the children and young people in the health 
assessment process. Evidence of this can be found in the following areas: 
 

 Prior to a health assessment taking place an informed consent is sought from all 
children and young people who are able to provide it 

 The views and wishes of LAC are captured throughout the health assessment 
and help to inform the resulting health action plan 

 Children and young people are routinely asked to complete a feedback 
questionnaire after every health assessment. These are audited annually by 
LNWUHT 

 Consultation events with the Children in Care Council & Time to Ask sessions 

 Care Leavers are asked to take part in the recruitment and interviews of new LAC 
health staff 

 A Care Leaver is invited to the bi monthly Local Partnership meetings, stays for 
the duration of the meeting to participate and share views 

 
15.1 Service user/participation working feedback received 
 
12/07/2018 – from Social Worker 

‘Thanks for being so proactive, the female Adopter xxxx- felt very supported when 

you called her to share your assessment. At the review last week the Adopters were 

very positive about a referral you facilitated has had been informed that this is a 

specialist team, but I understand it has to go through the local provider first and its 

very good that the CAMHS team have agreed to take it on given the ages of the 

Page 40



 

Final NHS Brent CCG LAC Annual Report 2018-2019                                            33 
 
 

children and them only being placed with the prospective adopters for a few months. 

Thanks again for going the extra mile in supporting the children and the Adopters’. 

22/10/2018 – From Social Worker 

‘Thanks for sending the comprehensive referral for SALT 

XXX received a call today first appointment booked for Friday 

We are very grateful for this and the virtual school advisor will be delighted 

Many thanks’ 

18/02/19 – From social worker 

‘Thank you also for your comprehensive and therapeutic Review Health Reports 

these were very helpful for me in writing up court reports and statements as was able 

to provide objective evidence re how much the boys’ have benefited from consistent 

and nurturing care. 

Adopter told me she is going to miss you as part of the team and said you were very 

supportive and reassuring’. 

 

15.2 Local Partnership Meetings 
 

The aim of the group is to promote overall outcomes for looked-after children and 
care leavers under the duty of our Corporate Parenting responsibility. ‘Corporate 
Parenting’ is the term used to refer to the collective responsibility of Brent Council 
and its partners to provide the best possible care and protection for children and 
young people who are looked after. Health representatives from the CCG and  
LNWUHT attend. 
 
These meetings:  
 

 Take multi-agency ownership of the LAC improvement agenda in order to 
achieve the best outcomes for children and Young People 

 Ensure the effective, timely and efficient delivery of services for Brent’s LAC and 
Care Leavers 

 Ensure through robust consultation that the views of children and young people 
are central to all service provision including the commissioned services.  

 Ensure that the views of children looked after are included in any strategic plans 
and developments for children’s services 

 Scrutinise performance against agreed KPIs for LAC 

 Agree, plan and implement action plans to identify and resolve any blocks in the 
system that may be affecting the service delivery 

 
The Health-sub group is overseen by the Designated Nurse for LAC on the theme 
that: ‘The Health and Wellbeing of Looked After Children improves’. 
 

Page 41



 

Final NHS Brent CCG LAC Annual Report 2018-2019                                            34 
 
 

 Leaflets for signposting to sexual health services are handed out during IHA 
and RHA assessments. Documentation of records that ‘NHS Go’ App is 
highlighted to CYP. 

 Provider LAC Health Team (DT/NK) to liaise with the Named Nurse for 
Safeguarding, LNWUHT regarding LAC CYP who access GUM clinics to raise 
awareness to clinic staff of the sensitivity around LAC due to them being at 
high risk to CSE pregnancy and terminations.  

 Ensure that all foster carers and UASC’s are fully aware of all the information 
available as to how to access sexual health information and explore ways to 
get updates from foster carers of areas that they find difficulty to open up with 
CYP e.g. through a monkey survey exercise with foster carers.  

 
 
Ensuring that each of these children has a shared health care plan with their 
placement, school and social workers. 
 
Brent LA sought to measure the quality of Looked After Children’s care experience 
and their sense of well-being by Coram Voice in conjunction with Bristol University.  
 
Survey outcome and actions: 
 

 Brent Virtual School to liaise with both statutory and further education 
provision to raise awareness and address any issues of bullying for LAC.  

 Contact between LAC & their networks including family members continued to 
be discussed at supervisions and LAC Reviews. 

 Thematic review to be undertaken to explore suitability of contact 
arrangements for LAC. 

 More CYP to respond to future Bright Spot Surveys to be increased to 
maximise participation and engagement of LAC and Care Leavers. 

 Training in relation to bullying in schools continued to be provided to 
practitioners and foster carers. 

 Work to build life-long links for LAC and Care Leavers to be enhanced in 
participation with care in action and care leavers in action groups. 

 Life-Story work for LAC to continue and efficiency of training provided to 
practitioners and foster carers to be reviewed. 

 Joint work to be undertaken by Commissioning and Resource Team and 
Social Work Teams to agree on a proforma that could be used during Social 
Worker visits to enable raising and addressing issues pertaining to settlement 
and stability of placement. 

 Discussion to take place at the IRO forum regarding IROs role to raise issues 
around settlement and stability of placements. 

 Recruitment and retention of SW to be continued to minimise disruption for 
LAC  

Achievements in 2018-19 were: 
 
LAC & LD emotional wellbeing service 
 

 Brent has a dedicated service to offer support and advice to foster carers and 
parents, as well as providing some direct support to children placed outside 
Brent 

Page 42



 

Final NHS Brent CCG LAC Annual Report 2018-2019                                            35 
 
 

 

 In 2018  the service was moved to Central & North West London NHS 
Foundation Trust to align with other Brent CAMHS developments 
 

 Young people can access emotional wellbeing and ‘the need to talk’ from  
Kooth.com. This on-line resource is available until 10.00pm in the privacy of 
the young person’s own space. 
 

 LAC and Care Leavers with substance misuse are identified through their 
health assessments. Workshops are delivered to staff by Public Health, 
Provider and Young People’s Team. A project worker from Westminster Drug 
Project (WDP) who works in Public Health is arranging workshops.  

 

 LAC are educated (appropriate to age) about sexual health and know how to 
seek help and information. Workshops provided include staff, foster carers 
and semi-independent provisions. Leaflets for signposting to sexual health 
services are handed out during Initial Health Assessments and Review Health 
Assessments. The ‘NHS Go’ app is highlighted to all Children and Young 
People (CYP). Liaison has taken place with the Named Nurse for 
Safeguarding LNWUHT to support LAC CYP who access GUM clinics to raise 
awareness to clinic staff of the sensitivity around LAC due to them being at 
high risk to Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) pregnancy and terminations.  

 

 Foster Carers and UASC’s are made fully aware of all the information 
available as to how to access sexual health information.  

 There is now an effective and timely use of Strengths and Difficulty 
Questionnaires (SDQ’s) across services. 

 
Work in progress: 
 
Working groups are in progress to manage long term conditions such as diabetes, 
asthma, allergies and epilepsy as a partnership for LAC CYP. Work has already 
commenced for those who are identified with diabetes. By providing streamlined 
information through providing information packs about the health needs of LAC with 
long term conditions ensures that this vulnerable group of children and young people 
will have opportunities for improved health outcomes. Training in specific long term 
conditions will be given to social workers. LNWUHT Specialist Diabetes Team has 
provided packs around diabetes management and care which is now in progress. 
Transitioning to adult services takes place at 16 age years. 
 
A booklet is currently being developed by the health sub-group which provides 
information and resources for Care Leavers, children in care and the people who 
support them. It is planned that this information will be added to the Brent App which will 

be used for the Pathway Plan. Copies will be in hard copy and electronic versions to 
enable access to all. 
 
Missing Operational Panel (MOP) 
 
In response to improvement actions identified from the recent 2018 Ofsted 
inspection, this panel was established to help drive improvements in the operational 

Page 43



 

Final NHS Brent CCG LAC Annual Report 2018-2019                                            36 
 
 

oversight of children including LAC who go missing from care and home. Meetings 
are arranged as part of the monthly multi-agency MOP meeting that will assess, 
track and monitor the individual outcomes of high risk children missing from care and 
home. 
 
 

Violence Against Women and Girls (VAWG) 
 
Violence against women and girls (VAWG) is a key issue for Brent and requires a 
multi-agency approach to tackle it successfully. The Designated Nurse for LAC 
attends the meetings. The objectives are to raise public awareness about Violence 
against Women and Girls, providing guidance and support where necessary and 
work together with all agencies and improve multi agency working and information 
sharing in tackling the VAWG agenda alongside the Safer Brent Partnership. 
 
16.0 Training for multi-agency partners 
 
The Designated Professionals and Lead Nurses for LAC continue to provide training 
sessions for social workers on the process and timeframes for arranging health 
assessments.  
The table below outlines the training programme for foster carers and social worker’s 
between April 2018 & March 2019. From April 2019 training for foster carers will be 
commissioned directly by the Local Authority. 
 

TRAINING/TOPIC  DATE COMPLETED/TRAINER 

Health needs of LAC for semi- 
independent placement 
providers 

18th April 2018 Esther Power and  
Dr Arlene Boroda 
 

Managing Children with 
Medical Needs/ 
Administration of Medication 

30th Oct. 2018 Brigid Offley-Shore and Dr 
Arlene Boroda 
 

Engaging Teenagers 30th Oct. 2018 Brigid Offley-Shore 
 

Immunisations 30th Oct. 2018 Brigid Offley-Shore and  
Dr Arlene Boroda 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 44



 

Final NHS Brent CCG LAC Annual Report 2018-2019                                            37 
 
 

17.0 LNWUHT LAC Health Team audit schedule for 2018-2019 
 
LNWUHT Brent LAC Health Team is compliant with their statutory duties under Sec 
11 of the Children Act 2004 and completes a number of self audits annually. The 
schedule for 2018/2019 is as follows. 
 

AUDIT COMPLETION DATE 

Care Leaver Audit December 2018 

Record keeping audit of LAC   November 2018 - January 2019 
 

18.0 Safeguarding Brent Looked After Children 

The Designated Professionals for Safeguarding, Looked After Children and Adults 

across the eight CCGs meet monthly with the Director of Quality and Safety to share 

common areas of work, discuss areas of concern and to agree areas for 

development. Supervision for the Provider Service is overseen by the Head of 

Safeguarding, LNWUHT. 

 

Under the Children Act 2004 local authorities and other key partners are expected to 

make arrangements to ensure that their functions are discharged with a view to 

safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children. This includes planning to 

prevent children from going missing and to protect them when they do. 

Brent LA adheres to the statutory guidance on children who go missing from home or 

care (2014)23.  

A well-established multi-agency “Missing Children” panel is in place and meets on a 

monthly basis. This panel tracks all children missing from both care and home and 

advises on plans to keep the children safe, including cross referencing with other 

panels addressing gang relations and CSE risks. It includes representation from all 

key agencies including the police, community safety, health and education. All 

children who go missing receive a “safe and well” interview with a police officer and a 

return interview with a social worker when they return. The service analyses any 

emerging trends from these interviews23  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                
23 Statutory guidance on children who run away or go missing from home or care 
January 2014  

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_
data/file/307867/Statutory_Guidance_-_Missing_from_care__3_.pdf 

Page 45

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/307867/Statutory_Guidance_-_Missing_from_care__3_.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/307867/Statutory_Guidance_-_Missing_from_care__3_.pdf


 

Final NHS Brent CCG LAC Annual Report 2018-2019                                            38 
 
 

19.0 Priorities for 2020-2021  
 
In order to ensure the continued improvement in health outcomes for LAC in Brent, 
multi-agency partners will need to work together in taking forward the following 
recommendations and devising a robust plan of action. 
 

1. LNWUHT and Designated Nurse for LAC Brent CCG to contribute to the 
induction and update training for new and existing Social Workers. 

2. Designated Professionals and Named Professionals for LAC to contribute 
actively to the Local Partnership Panel. 

3. Brent CCG to work with key partners to review existing substance misuse 
services for children and young people in Brent  

4. Designated Professionals LAC  to repeat the quality audit of Health Action 

Plans annually 

5. During their statutory health assessment all Care Leavers should be 
encouraged to register onto the online system in order to access their own GP 
records 

6. LNWUHT to continue to encourage Care Leavers to access up to date health 
information via the ‘NHS go’ and ‘NHS HealthhelpNow’ Apps 

7. LNWUHT and Brent CCG to continue to monitor the number of 
unaccompanied asylum seeking children and implement a health check list  
for this service group  

8. Implement and monitor the NHS National Tariff Payment System (2018 and 
2019) in Brent to reduce the unwarranted variation in the health delivery and 
commissioning arrangements for LAC24, scheduled to commence on 1st 
October 2018  
 

  

                                                
24

 https://improvement.nhs.uk/documents/1044/2017-18_and_2018-
19_National_Tariff_Payment_System.pdf 

Page 46

https://improvement.nhs.uk/documents/1044/2017-18_and_2018-19_National_Tariff_Payment_System.pdf
https://improvement.nhs.uk/documents/1044/2017-18_and_2018-19_National_Tariff_Payment_System.pdf


 

Final NHS Brent CCG LAC Annual Report 2018-2019                                            39 
 
 

20.0 Abbreviations used in the report 

AH Adult Health 

BAME Black Asian and Minority Ethnic Groups 

BCCG Brent Clinical Commissioning Group 

BCT Brent Children’s Trust 
BVS 
CAMHS 

Brent Virtual school 
Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services 

CHAT Comprehensive Health Assessment Tool 

CNWL Central and North West London NHS Trust 

Coram BAAF Adoption and Fostering Academy 

CHIS Child Health Information System 

CSE Child Sexual Exploitation 

CWD Children with Disabilities 

DfE Department for Education 

EHCP Educational and Health Care Plan 

HAP Health Action Plan 

IHA Initial Health Assessment 

IRO Independent Reviewing Officer 

JCG Joint Children Commissioning 

KPI Key Performance Indicator 

LBB London Borough of Brent 

LA Local Authority (London Borough of Brent) 

LNWUHT London North West University Healthcare NHS Trust 
LAC 
LAW 

Looked After Children 
London Adoption West 

OOB Out of Borough 
OLA                             
PEP 

Other Local authorities 
Personal Educational Plan 

RHA Review Health Assessment 

SEN Special Educational Needs and Disability 

SEG Safeguarding Executive Group 

SDQ Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire 

UASC Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children 

WTE Whole Time Equivalent (37.5 hours/week) 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 47



 

Final NHS Brent CCG LAC Annual Report 2018-2019                                            40 
 
 

21.0 Authors 
 
Lead author: Brigid P. Offley-Shore 
Designated Nurse for Looked After Children 
NHS Brent CCG 
 
Dr Arlene Boroda 
Designated Doctor for Looked After Children 
NHS Brent CCG 
 
Contributions from: 
 
Suzanne McCarthy 
Performance Manager, Children and Young People 
Brent Council 
 
Dr Sepali Wijesinghe 
Consultant Paediatrician 
Lead for LAC Brent 
Medical Adviser to Brent Adoption Panel 
 
Esther Power 
(Interim) Lead Nurse for Brent Looked After Children 
LNWUHT 
 
 
Report Approved at NHS Brent CCG IGC meeting held on  08 01 2020.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 48



Corporate Parenting Committee
5 February 2020

 

Report from the Strategic Director of Children 
and Young People 

Brent Fostering Service Quarterly Monitoring Report: 
Quarter 3: 1st October to 31st December 2019

Wards Affected: All
Key or Non-Key Decision: N/A
Open or Part/Fully Exempt:
(If exempt, please highlight 
relevant paragraph of Part 1, 
Schedule 12A of 1972 Local 
Government Act)

Open

No. of Appendices: N/A
Background Papers: N/A

Contact Officer(s):
(Name, Title, Contact Details)

Onder Beter,
Head of Service for Looked After Children and 
Permanency 

Nigel Chapman
Operational Director, Integration and Improved 
Outcomes

1. Purpose of the Report

1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide information to the Council’s Corporate 
Parenting Committee about the general management of the in-house fostering 
service and how it is achieving good outcomes for children. This is in 
accordance with standard 25.7 of the Fostering National Minimum Standards 
(2011).

1.2    This report details the activity of Brent’s fostering service from 1st October – 31st 
December 2019. 

Page 49

Agenda Item 11



2.0 Recommendation(s) 

2.1 The Corporate Parenting Committee is requested to review, comment on and 
question the contents of this report. This is to provide evidence that the 
management of the fostering service is being monitored and challenged in order 
to promote good outcomes for children.

3.0    Background 

3.1    Service Values
The in-house fostering function is positioned within the LAC and Permanency 
Service of the Children and Young People’s Department. The 2019-20 service 
plan set out the vision for the service as below:

 Family finding for looked after children will be timely and within their extended 
family network where appropriate.
 Children’s individual needs, including diversity needs such as disability, race, 

religion, language and culture will always be considered when placing a child.
 We will increase good quality local placements for children by securing more 

in-house fostering placements. We will recruit, assess and approve new foster 
carers with the aim to have 5 net additional fostering households at the end of 
the financial year taking into account termination of approvals and 
resignations.
 There will be a decrease in the number of resignations/de-registrations of 

foster carers as a result of appropriate support and well-established, positive 
relationships with foster carers.
 We will continue to provide an excellent learning and development package 

for foster carers who will have permanent supervising social workers to 
supervise and support them. 

3.2   Staffing Arrangements

The Fostering Support and Assessment Teams consist of two team managers, 
12 social work posts and one marketing and recruitment officer post. The 
workload within the teams continues to grow as new carers are approved and 
need to be allocated for support when they care for children. All posts are filled 
with permanent members of staff.

Page 50



4.0   Placement Activity

4.1   The total number of looked after children as at 31st December 2019 was 305, 
which is a drop from the end of Q2 by 19 children (324 children) and an increase 
of 2 children from the same period in 2018.  

4.2   The corporate performance targets for 2019/20 are as below:

 Percentage of looked after children placed with in-house (Brent) foster carers 
– annual target 30% - the actual percentage as of 31st December 2019 was 
21% (64 children), decreased from the previous quarter 22.2% (72 children).

 Percentage of looked after children placed with a relative or family friend – 
annual target 15% - the actual percentage as of 31st December 2019 was 
10.5% (32 children), an increase from 9.9% (32 children) at the end of Q2, 
2019-2020

 Percentage of looked after children placed in independent fostering agencies 
– annual target 25% - the actual percentage as of 31st December 2019 was 
27.9% (85 children); compared to Q2, 2019-2020 - 27.8% (90 children).

 Percentage of looked after children overall within foster placements – annual 
target 75% - the actual percentage as of 31st December 2019 was 59.34% 
(181 children), dropped from 60.2% (195 children) at the end of Q2, 2019-
2020.

 There were 65 looked after children in registered semi-independent 
accommodation (residential accommodation not subject to Children’s Home 
Regulations) as at 31st December 2019, which represents 21.3% of all looked 
after children. This number is an increase by 2.5% from the end of Q2, 2019-
2020 (18.8%). 

4.3   As of 31st December 2019 there were 70 UASC, 9 more than at the end of Q2, 
2019– 20. 

Page 51



April, 56 June, 58
September, 61

December, 70

April June September December
0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

UASC numbers (Apr 19 - Dec 19)

UASC numbers (Apr 19 - Dec 19)

4.4   28 UASC are placed in semi-independent accommodation (3 UASC more 
than the end of Q2, 2019-20), 2 placed within a residential children’s home 
and 40 UASC are placed in foster care, five more than at the end of Q2, 
2019 – 20.

5.0   Recruitment and Assessment

5.1   Within the reporting period Brent’s Marketing and Recruitment Officer (MRO) and 
the fostering teams continued to carry out recruitment focused activities with the 
aim of raising awareness of fostering for Brent and encouraging potential foster 
carers to make enquiries with Brent Fostering Service. This includes the 
exploration of the support networks of Brent’s approved carers.
 

Page 52



5.2 The MRO continues to develop fostering in Brent by increasing the presence on 
social media. Facebook is used to reach members of the public, and through 
Twitter we engage with stakeholders like councillors and other council services 
that have a high following and can help us to reach more residents. The MRO is 
currently implementing a digital strategy which allows us to geo-target Brent 
residents and identify prospective carers using interests filtering (so that Brent 
fostering pops up whenever they open their search engine if they have ever 
searched fostering previously). Compared to traditional media, digital channels 
allow for more cost-effective and centralised marketing practices. There is also 
a strong focus on creating content to spark people’s interest in fostering – the 
addition to the website of videos of Brent foster carers talking about their own 
experiences positively has been particularly impactful on the numbers of people 
returning more than once to Brent’s fostering page. 

5.3   Starting this quarter, the Fostering Information Evenings have been promoted on 
Eventbrite – an events platform where the majority of the council’s public events 
are advertised. This tactic has been successful as a high number of people who 
meet the fostering criteria signed up to attend the information sessions. 

 
5.4   During this quarter, the team continued to facilitate information evenings at the 

Civic Centre (one per month), providing an opportunity to members of the public 
to find out more about the fostering role and to enable Brent to determine whether 
an individual or family has the potential to become a carer for Brent. 

 
5.5   The recruitment activity during the reporting period produced 32 enquiries 

(website, telephone calls or emails requesting further information). Out of the 32, 
22 attended the information evening sessions in October, November or 
December. Of the 22 possible prospective carers 3 were considered suitable to 
progress to initial visit. The main reason for not progressing enquiries further was 
that people were only seeking information about fostering at this stage rather 
than wishing to be assessed.

  
5.6   Of the 3 initial visits undertaken 2 were considered suitable to progress to stage 

1 of the assessment process but one of these people subsequently withdrew 
(they had been wishing to transfer to Brent from an Independent Fostering 
Agency but were persuaded by the agency to remain).

5.7    Of the 7 assessments in stage 1 in the last reporting period:
 2 have progressed to stage 2;
 2 have remained in stage 1 as we await the outcome of statutory checks;
 3 have withdrawn from the process, 2 due to reflecting that they cannot meet 

the level of needs that looked after children present and 1 had a change in 
their personal circumstances. 

Page 53



5.8  Of the 4 assessments recorded in the last quarterly report as being in stage 2, 1 
has been approved at fostering panel.  Of the others, 1 is scheduled to attend 
panel in January 2020 and the other 2 are due to panel in February 2020.

5.9   In this reporting period there are a total of 8 assessments underway: 3 in stage 
1, and 5 in Stage 2. 

6.0 Fostering Panel

6.1   The fostering service has a Fostering Panel constituted in accordance with 
Regulation 23 of the Fostering Services (England) Regulations 2011. The service 
maintains a diverse and highly experienced central list of panel members that 
includes an elected member.  The panel chair and vice chair are independent 
people with professional and personal experience of fostering and panel 
members include those with personal experience of the fostering system. Current 
demand requires three panels to be held every two months. 

6.2   The functions of the fostering panel are to consider:
 each application and to recommend whether or not a person is suitable to be 

a foster carer or Connected Person(s) (Family and Friends foster carer) and 
the terms of their approval;

 the first annual review of each approved carer and any other review as 
requested by the service, including those of a Standards of Care issue and 
those exploring any allegations made;

 the termination of approval or change of terms of approval of a foster carer; 
and

 the long-term fostering matches of all children below the age of 12.

6.3   During the period 1st October – 31st December 2019, 3 panels were held with 12 
specific cases discussed during these sessions.  Within these cases:
 3 fostering households were found suitable to continue as foster carers 

following review; 
 4 fostering households resigned from their fostering role – 1 due to the extent 

of challenging behaviour exhibited by the young person in their care, and 3 
due to changes in their personal circumstances;

 the approval of 1 fostering household was terminated due to standards of care 
concerns; 

 1 long-term fostering match was supported;
 2 new ‘family and friends’ fostering households were recommended for 

approval; and
 1 new fostering household was recommended for approval.

Page 54



All of the recommendations made above were ratified by the Agency Decision 
Maker (ADM) who is the Head of LAC and Permanency.  

7.0   Training and Support for Foster Carers

7.1   The Learning and Development Programme
The Fostering Development Coordinator, who arranges training for foster carers, 
has reported that during the period 7 courses were offered. The training courses 
offered were on a variety of topics ranging in diversity from ‘Key Legislation & 
Delegated Authority’, to ‘Child Sexual Exploitation’ and ‘Managing the challenges 
of conflict with De-escalation Techniques’, the latter replaced the cancelled 
session from August 2019 mentioned in the last quarterly report. Supervising 
social workers and the Fostering Development Coordinator continue to 
emphasise importance of attending training to foster carers in their visits.

The feedback regarding the courses offered as part of the learning and 
development programme for our foster carers continues to be positive.
On childhood trauma and attachment:
“I enjoyed learning about the development of a child’s brain and attachment 
building and doing things together will help improve the care I provide for a child”.
On sexuality and gender:
“I learnt about how to protect and child on the internet / online”.
On caring for a child who has been sexually abused:
“It is important for foster carers to understand that children as young as two years 
old can be sexually abused and what behaviours to look out for”.

7.2   Support from supervising social workers
The feedback received from foster carers is consistently positive in relation to the 
support they receive from their allocated supervising social workers, their 
managers and the wider fostering service. Some examples of the feedback 
received are as below:

“I would like to personally thank you for all the hard work, time, patience and 
support you’ve given me over the years. Without all your input, I wouldn’t have 
been a Brent Foster Carer today so thank you!”

“Thank you for meeting me on Friday.
A's placement has ended and I am happy that she is back with her family. I would 
like to request another placement as soon as possible…I really appreciate 
everything you have done. I want to thank you and the team for all your support 
this year”.

Page 55



7.3 The Foster Carers’ Annual Awards event was held in Brent Civic Centre’s Grand 
Hall on 30th November 2019. It was well-attended and the carers appreciated the 
awards they received. Some of the feedback was as follows:

“It was nicely organised… it was a lovely night. The decoration and atmosphere 
was excellent”.

“I enjoyed the night because it is a chance to see managers, social workers and 
foster carers all in the same place, enjoying themselves and in appreciation of 
why we do what we do”.

“It was nice to see everyone in a relaxed atmosphere”.

“I liked that it wasn’t too formal an event. As foster carers we spend a lot of our 
time in meetings with professionals so it's good to let your hair down with people 
who are like minded as yourself”.

                

Page 56



8.0 Monitoring – reviews, allegations, complaints 

8.1   A total of 24 foster carer annual review meetings were scheduled to be held 
during the period under focus. They all went ahead except one, which was 
cancelled due to the carer resigning. 

8.2  During this quarter, there was one complaint made by a Brent foster carer. This 
was about the practice of two workers in the child protection teams. This has 
been followed up by the Head of Service for the Localities Service. 

9.0   New Developments

9.1 Fostering Steering Group
Work on the feasibility project in the area of closer working arrangements on 
improving placement stability and choice for adolescent children in the care 
system between Hounslow, Ealing and Brent, led by Brent, continues. 

Two Fostering Steering Group meetings have been held during this period for 
information and data sharing purposes. The next stage of the process will be for 
the project leads to meet foster carers, the fostering teams and the Marketing 
and Recruitment Officers of each of the three authorities.

9.2   Exploring Family Networks of Foster Carers
Some of Brent’s most resilient carers have originated from the support network 
of approved foster carers. As such, the fostering teams are planning do a piece 
of targeted work to explore support networks of our existing carers with the view 
to identify possible foster carers. Family Network Meetings will be used to bring 
family and friends networks together for this piece of work. 

Contact Officer

Onder Beter, Head of Service, LAC and Permanency. 
Brent Civic Centre, Engineers Way, Wembley, Middlesex HA9 OFJ.
Tel: 020 8937 1228

Email: onder.beter@brent.gov.uk

Page 57

mailto:onder.beter@brent.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	8 Findings of Ofsted Focused Visit to Review Arrangements for Care Leavers
	8a. Appendix 1 - Brent Focused visit of local authority childrens services_Nov19

	9 Health Annual Report of Looked After Children - 2018/19
	11 Fostering Service Quarterly Report, Quarter 3 (Oct 2019-Dec 2019)

